
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Crime & Disorder 
(Overview & Scrutiny) 

Committee
Councillor R J Wells (Chairman)

Councillor A Sandhu MBE(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor Mrs Maria B Kelly

Councillor R Lees
Councillor C S McLean

Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor D J Mote

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Wednesday 22 July 2015

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Wednesday 22 July 2015

1. Apologies For Absence 

To receive any apologies of absence.

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 
2015 

(Pages 1 - 
12)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

There are no references from other Committees at present.

6. Chairman's Welcome and Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 13 
- 14)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 
June to 31 October 2015. 

8. Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) 

At the Committee’s invitation, to receive a verbal update from the 
Deputy Leader of the Council, Councillor Chris Shippam, Dartford’s 
representative on the PCP.



9. Performance (Pages 15 
- 22)

To note the attached Performance report detailing crime statistics 
and public perception of anti-social behaviour (ASB) as discussed by 
the Dartford and Gravesham CSP on 11 June 2015.

10. Community Safety Plan 2015-16 (Pages 23 
- 40)

To note the contents of the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership (CSP) Community Safety Plan 2015-16 (attached 
at Appendix A to the report) agreed by the CSP at its meeting on 19 
March 2015 and comment accordingly.

11. Work Programme (Pages 41 
- 48)

Members are invited to note the contents of the Committee’s draft 
rolling Work Programme for the current 2015-16 municipal year and 
beyond and comment accordingly.

12. Committee Annual Report for the 2014-15 Municipal Year (Pages 49 
- 98)

To consider the attached draft Annual Report and Appendices for the 
2014-15 municipal year prior to submission to the General Assembly 
of the Council.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee held on Wednesday 11 February 2015.

PRESENT: Councillor R J Wells (Chairman)
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs S P Butterfill
Councillor S J Doran
Councillor D J Mote
Councillor Mrs J A Rickwood
Councillor M J Street

ABSENT: Councillor M J Bryant

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (ES)
Mark Salisbury – EARS Manager, CSU

CABINET & LEAD 
MEMBERS:

 Councillor Mrs A D Allen MBE, Councillor D A 
Hammock and Councillor A R Martin

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:

Paul Brandon – Deputy Chief Constable, Kent Police
Mike Stepney – Chief of Staff, Office of Kent Police 

& Crime Commissioner
C.I. Paul Anderson – Dartford District Commander, Kent 

Police
Insp. Gary Woodward – Dartford Neighbourhood Inspector, 

Kent Police

14. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M J Bryant, J A Kite 
MBE, A R Lloyd and M I Peters.

The Chairman advised that due to an unexpected family commitment, Mrs 
Ann Barnes, Kent Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) had been unable to 
attend and make her presentation to Members as planned. He welcomed the 
PCC’s Chief of Staff, Mr Mike Stepney and confirmed that Mr Stepney would 
be addressing Members on behalf of the Commissioner.

The Chairman extended a warm welcome to Paul Brandon, Deputy Chief 
Constable, Kent Police, together with his Staff Officer, the Dartford District 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

2

Commander C.I. Paul Anderson and Dartford’s Neighbourhood Police 
Inspector Gary Woodward, based in Dartford’s CSU.

The Chairman also welcomed the Deputy Leader in his capacity as Dartford’s 
representative on the Police and Crime Panel (PCP), Lead Members 
Councillor Ann Allen (Community Involvement) and Councillor Dave 
Hammock (Licensing & Enforcement) and noted that several other Borough 
and Parish Members had accepted his invitation to attend and participate in 
the joint presentation on future Policing in Kent [Agenda Item 7].

The presence of the Strategic Director (External Services) and the newly 
appointed Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager, Mark Salisbury, 
was also noted and welcomed.

 

15. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

16. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 JULY 
2014 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the Committee’s meeting held on 23 July 2014 be 
confirmed as accurate.

17. URGENT ITEMS [IF ANY] 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for consideration by 
the Committee. 

18. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

19. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 27 January 2015 to 
31 May 2015 be noted.

20. JOINT PRESENTATION ON THE VISION FOR POLICING IN KENT 

The Chairman renewed his welcome to Mark Stepney Chief of Staff in the 
PCC’s Office and invited him to make his presentation to Members on behalf 
of the Commissioner.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

3

The Chief of Staff (CoS) informed Members that Mrs Barnes had been 
particularly disappointed not to be able to address the Committee that evening 
as planned. He advised that his contribution to the presentation on the ‘Joint 
Vision for Policing in Kent’ - would focus on the Commissioner’s role and 
responsibilities as PCC. The Deputy Chief Constable (DCC) would then make 
his presentation on behalf of the Chief Constable, followed by a joint Q & A 
session with Members.

The Committee received an initial PowerPoint presentation from the CoS 
detailing the key aspects of Mrs Barnes role as Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner under the following headings:

Responsibilities 

 Determining the Strategic Direction for Kent Police 
 Setting the Budget
 Consulting with the Public to give a single voice on policing 

issues
 Hiring [and firing] the Chief Constable 
 Holding the Chief Constable to account
 Working with partners e.g. Police and Crime Panel (PCP) 

Police and Crime Plan [7 key elements]

 1: Cut crime and catch criminals
 2: Protect the public from serious harm
 3: Prevent crime, anti-social behaviour (ASB) and reduce repeat 

victimisation and offending
 4: Ensure visible community policing is at the heart of policing in 

Kent
 5: Put victims and witnesses at the heart of the process
 6: Deliver value for money (VfM)
 7: Meet national commitments for policing

Members were reminded that following elections held in November 2012, forty 
one (41) Police and Crime Commissioners (PCC’s) had been elected to office 
in England and Wales. The role of a PCC, as defined by the Prime Minister 
David Cameron in May 2012 was ‘To be a ‘Voice for the people, someone to 
lead the fight against crime and to be held to account if they didn’t deliver’. 
The CoS added that the continued role and function of PCC’s going forward 
would be determined by the outcome of the General Election in May 2015 and 
which Party or Coalition of Parties gained power.

The CoS advised Members that the strategic direction taken by Kent Police 
was dictated by the 7 key elements contained within the Force’s Police and 
Crime Plan [as listed above]. A Police and Crime Plan was a statutory 
document for all Forces covering a 4 year cycle and refreshed by an annual 
update exercise. The current Plan for Kent Police had been drawn up by the 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

4

Commissioner in consultation with the present Chief Constable, Alan 
Pughsley. The PCC and CC shared a ‘joint vision for policing in Kent’ based 
on the treatment of victims and the safeguarding of witnesses within a 
responsive and caring policing regime. The Commissioner’s Engagement 
Strategy with the public ensured that public concerns were addressed and 
where appropriate prioritised within the Plan. Holding the CC to account was a 
statutory obligation of the PCC’s Office and achieved through a mixture of 
formal and informal forums, including 1 to 1 sessions between the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable. Setting the Kent Police budget in the 
continuing climate of fiscal restraint had been challenging.  Savings of £46M 
had been required during the lifetime of the current Plan, achieved primarily 
through a reduction of some 400 officers and civil support staff. Following 
completion of the refresh exercise in February 2015, Kent’s Police and Crime 
Panel (PCP) had agreed the Commissioner’s proposal to commit some £1.6M 
of funding for the preservation of 30 (thirty) permanent Police Officer posts. 
However this had been an isolated ‘gain’ in the general downward trend of 
funding cuts and staffing efficiencies that had been required in the current 4 
year cycle. The refreshed Plan for the current year would additionally include 
new measures to prevent child sexual exploitation and to engage with Youth. 

Members were informed that in terms of meeting present day national 
commitments for policing; the Kent Force led the way regarding the accurate 
recording of crime, following an inspection of Kent Police by Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) in 2013 and now achieved an accuracy 
rate in terms of recording crimes of between 96-97% which compared very 
favourably with other Forces. The HMIC inspection process to evaluate the 
accuracy levels for recording crime was now being rolled-out across all 
Forces nationwide, with HMIC requiring all Forces in England and Wales to 
pass the ‘Kent Test’ and achieve crime recording levels of 90% or above. 

The CoS advised that the Commissioner and the Chief Constable shared a 
common vision for the County based on the District model, held together by a 
‘golden thread’ of victim support and witness protection. This enabled Kent to 
be an effective Police Force that valued quality of delivery, humanity and 
cultural diversity and displayed the ability to face and rectify mistakes when 
made. The District model worked well in terms of meeting public expectation 
and was endorsed by Councils at all levels throughout Kent.

Looking to the future, the CoS advised Members that even greater financial 
challenges faced Kent and all Forces nationally in the continuing climate of 
fiscal restraint versus increased demand for police services. A further £60M in 
cuts needed to be found in the next 4 year cycle which would be a very 
difficult target to achieve. The £46M of savings secured by Kent Police to date 
had been achieved through significant cuts in front-line staff. Back-room 
operations for HR, IT and Finance were now shared with Essex Police and all 
‘low-hanging fruit’ in terms of savings taken. The projected £60M of further 
savings represented 60% of the Kent police budget in the next 4 year cycle, 
and posed the question of how long the current policing model at local / 
district / national level could be maintained. Staffing costs continued to 
account for 80% of Kent’s budget, despite advances in technology e.g. body 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

5

cameras, virtual courts and shared back-office functions with Essex Police. 
Continued partnership working between Forces and other Agencies e.g. Fire 
and Rescue, Probation and Public Health Services would become 
increasingly important in this scenario. A particular fear and threat was that 
Agencies would begin to focus increasingly on their own core business [in the 
face of continued budget and staffing cuts] shrinking their partnership roles 
and leaving Police Forces nationwide to ‘fill the gaps’ and pick up the pieces.  
A national debate on the current and future models for policing would be 
required sooner rather than later. 

The Chairman thanked the CoS for his presentation and invited the DCC to 
speak on behalf of the Chief Constable.

The DCC advised Members that Kent was an excellent Force, held a good 
record in relation to inspections and was intelligence led. Kent faced unique 
geographical challenges given its position as the U.K.’s gateway to Europe 
and the threat that posed, in addition to North Kent’s proximity to the 
Metropolitan area and the influx of cross-border crime from London and 
Essex, exacerbated by the major arterial routes of the M25 and the A2. 
Recent infrastructure developments in Kent, including the London Paramount 
project in the Swanscombe Peninsular were positive, but also brought fresh 
challenges with highly professional London gangs targeting vehicle and tool 
theft in particular from construction sites. Child exploitation was another 
increasing area of current work across the County but particularly in East 
Kent. Improvements in technology such as body worn cameras and tablets, 
were allowing officers to stay out longer and submit reports from the field. 
Collaboration with Essex Police continued to strengthen through combined 
intelligence and joint operations and the sharing of back-room functions e.g. 
HR, IT and Finance. Dealing with members of the public and offenders with 
mental health issues, continued to be a significant drain on Police staff and 
resources. Despite the fact that the Police were not always the most suitable 
Agency to deal with such incidents, having been contacted they had to 
respond, at least in the first instance.

The DCC confirmed that the Chief Constable and the Commissioner shared a 
joint vision for Policing in Kent and also confirmed the cultural shift by Kent 
Police away from a policy of numerical targeting to one of quality service to 
the public. The most recent monitoring of victims had recorded a satisfaction 
rating of 80%. Performance delivery was being achieved by putting Local 
Policing at the centre of the model, giving equal priority to operational 
demand, visible local policing and local reassurance, aimed at reducing 
overall demand in the face of the requirement for continued savings. Better 
use of technology and collaboration with partner Agencies and Essex Police 
had helped achieve the savings of some £47M required under the Coalition 
Government’s first Comprehensive Spending Review [CSR1]. However, the 
Chief Constable had significant concerns over the ability of the Kent Force to 
sustain the £60M of further savings required under CSR2 and continue to 
operate in its current format. Some current Police functions and areas of 
activity would have to be re-assessed even cease, and a comprehensive 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

6

communications strategy would be required to positively engage with the 
public and key partners. 

Members were advised that at present, Kent Police were managing continuity 
and change through improved focus on Local District Policing Teams, as 
exemplified in Dartford by the joint CSU operation based in the Civic Centre 
staffed by both Police and Council officers. Kent retained 3 Police Divisions at 
present, but the future shape and size of the Force remained subject to further 
debate and review moving forward. In 2015/16 some £20M of further savings 
would be required under CSR2.  The DCC noted that the number of mental 
health cases in Police custody continued to be a drain on resources, as was 
the requirement for Police to respond to incidents when contacted by the 
public ‘out-of hours’, when Health and other Agencies were not readily 
available. Historic sex abuse cases in the wake of the Saville inquiry and 
Operation Yew Tree were a growing area of investigation, frequently labour 
intensive and time-consuming, given the lack of readily accessible historical 
evidence to give victims closure. A further major concern was the current high 
level of perceived terrorist threat. 

The Deputy Chief Constable and the Commissioner’s Chief of Staff confirmed 
the following further points in response to subsequent questions from 
Members:

 London Paramount development in Greenhithe Peninsular – 
possible impact in terms of acquisitive and vehicle crime for Dartford 
and North Kent: Kent Police had held talks with London Paramount in 
December 2014 to flag the importance of appropriate security 
arrangements at major construction sites. A written response from 
London Paramount was awaited, but Kent Police were committed to 
working positively with the consortium given their investment in the 
Dartford area;

 Stray and unattended Horses: Kent Police powers were limited to 
road traffic issues, as and when unattended horses strayed onto roads 
and highways. However the issue had been noted for inclusion in the 
Kent Police and Crime Plan going forward;

 Attendance by PCSOs at Parish meetings – visible policing: 
resources had reduced in the current CSR1 cycle. PCSOs were highly 
valued by the Force and public alike, but CSR2 would necessitate hard 
choices between competing demands for resources. In the interim, the 
Dartford Neighbourhood Inspector undertook to examine the request 
that PCSO’s, where available, attend Parish meetings;

 Neighbourhood Watch meetings: Members noted the effectiveness 
of the schemes and that Police attendance was good, in particular by 
the Neighbourhood Inspector, most recently at the Swanscombe & 
Greenhithe Neighbourhood Watch event;



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

7

 Local Communications - Police follow-up to initial reports of crime: 
Members expressed particular frustration at the Parish level following 
the initial reporting of crime to the Police. Parish Clerks bore the brunt 
of subsequent public dissatisfaction over an apparent lack of follow-up 
action by the Police. The Neighbourhood Inspector agreed that it was 
important to let the public know of any progress and the need for 
CSU’s to follow-up with the victims of crime and would re-inforce this 
point with his team. He also mentioned use of the ‘Track my Crime’ 
application which was proving extremely popular;

 Radicalisation of minorities and fundamentalists: The DCC 
confirmed that the work of Kent Police in combating radicalisation was 
ongoing given recent events in mainland Europe, the threat posed by 
British Jihadee’s returning from conflicts in the Middle East and 
elsewhere and Kent Police’s efforts to tackle these issues. He also 
highlighted for Members some of the challenges in this area of 
operation; 

 Merging of Police Forces: Kent Police were now most closely aligned 
to and co-operated with Essex Police in the Eastern Region to 
generate savings and share services. Co-operation with Surrey and 
Sussex remained however in terms of cross-border crime, particularly 
Metropolitan crime; 

 Public consultation over Cuts: the PCC was keen that the public 
should be consulted over the nature of cuts and their impact, but 
operational decisions were, by law, the remit of the Chief Constable. 
However, given their shared vision for Policing in Kent the PCC was 
able to input into the process. Difficult decisions lay ahead and it would 
be important to convey them to the public in a positive and open 
communications strategy.

The Chairman thanked the Deputy Chief Constable and the Commissioner’s 
Chief of Staff for their presentations and for responding to Members 
subsequent questions. 

21. KENT POLICE AND CRIME PANEL (PCP) UPDATE 

The Committee received a verbal update from the Deputy Leader, Councillor 
Tony Martin, in his role as Dartford’s representative on the Kent and Medway 
Police and Crime Panel (PCP). Available Minutes from previous Panel 
meetings held on 24 July and 9 September 2014 were also included in the 
Committee’s agenda papers as background.

The Deputy Leader briefly updated Members on business at recent Panel 
meetings, particularly with regard to the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan 
2015/16 Refresh and Council Tax Precept proposals, which the PCP had 
agreed. However, the Panel continued to have concerns over the 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

8

Commissioner’s proposal to increase Council Tax per se to finance future 
unspecified spending, rather than adopting an analytical approach to the 
present budgetary provision, to determine future need. The Deputy Leader 
conceded that the role of the PCC as an elected official with a mandate and 
manifesto to implement was a difficult one. He also expressed frustration over 
the limited role of PCP’s and felt that PCP’s needed more powers to ensure 
that Panels and Commissioners developed a strong and constructive 
relationship.

22. CSP STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2014 

The Chairman welcomed Mark Salisbury to his first meeting of the Committee, 
following his appointment as Enforcement and Regulatory Services (EARS) 
Manager in the Council’s Community Safety Unit (CSU). He asked that the 
efforts of the previous Manager, David Court, be recorded in the Minutes in 
recognition of his contribution to the work of the Crime and Disorder (O&S) 
Committee from its inception in October 2009. Members echoed the 
Chairman’s sentiments.

Mark Salisbury advised Members that he had taken up his duties as EARS 
Manager on 5 January 2015 and felt particularly privileged to be working in 
Dartford CSU which was widely regarded as the exemplar model throughout 
Kent for effective collaborative multi-agency working. 

In presenting the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP) Strategic Assessment 2014 document to the Committee for noting; the 
EARS Manager reminded Members that the CSP was required to publish a 
Strategic Assessment (SA) each year under the terms of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998. The Committee, as an Overview function, was then 
required to consider the SA on an annual basis. He highlighted the following 
key points in the 2014 SA for Members:

 The principal aim of the SA was to record crime and anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) levels in both Dartford and Gravesham and identify 
priorities to inform a joint Strategic Action Plan to tackle crime and ASB 
issues across both Boroughs;

 Data relating to crime and ASB collated for the 2014 SA covered the 
period October 2013 – September 2014. It was important to note that 
it was not possible to present comparison figures from previous years 
due to changes in the definitions of several crime categories introduced 
in 2013;

 It was also important to note the significant changes in the Home Office 
Counting Rules for Recorded Crime, introduced following an initial 
inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) of 
Kent Police also in 2013. As the Committee had already been 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

9

informed, Kent now had a very high ethical standard for crime 
recording which other Police areas had yet to implement. This fact 
impacted on the relative position of Dartford & Gravesham within its 
Most Similar Group of CSP’s, drawn from some Police areas who had 
yet to implement the new Home Office rules for recorded crime;

 The CSP’s 6 Key Priorities for 2015-16 remained the same as those 
identified for the previous year which were: Violent Crime and 
Domestic Abuse, Anti-Social Behaviour (incorporating Criminal 
Damage related to ASB), Acquisitive and Property Crime, Substance 
Misuse, Reducing Re-offending and Road Safety;

 The Counter Terrorism and Security Bill (Act when passed) would 
have significant implications for Agencies within CSPs under the terms 
of the ‘Prevent’ strategy, based within the Government’s Counter 
Terrorism ‘Contest’ plan. The ‘Prevent’ strategy would place new 
duties on individual Agencies and CSPs to work together to prevent 
people being radicalised and drawn into terrorism;

 Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse (DA) had risen in Dartford which, 
in positive terms, reflected increased reporting of both crime categories 
by the public, based on increased confidence in the Police and other 
Agencies to tackle both issues. Further evidence of public confidence 
and satisfaction was the increased use by victims of the services 
provided by the Borough’s ‘Domestic Abuse 1 Stop Shop’ facilities;

 Substance Misuse –CSP partners were  concentrating on efforts to 
deal with the complex needs of alcohol users currently resistant to 
accessing support and services and addressing so called ‘Legal Highs’; 
extended joint working between the Troubled Families Programme’s 
Family Workers and local substance misuse service providers (CRI 
and KCA) was being undertaken to increase referral numbers to those 
services; 

 Reducing Re-offending: the CSP’s Sub-Group continued to support 
the CRI-led initiative to improve multi-agency working in dealing with 
the needs of complex alcohol users often involved in repeat offending 
in both criminal activity and ASB including through the ‘Making every 
Adult Matter’ project [see above]; a ‘Learning Shop’ based in Bluewater 
was a further initiative to assist [re] offenders; the Community Payback 
Scheme under which ex-offenders undertook community work 
continued to draw public praise and be valued by local authorities;

 Acquisitive Crime: targeted work in key geographical locations would 
be undertaken to reduce repeat victimisation and provide support to 
vulnerable residents and businesses; close working and information –
sharing would also be maintained between G-Safe, D-TAC, CCTV and 
Kent Police with additional measures such as Exclusion Orders used 
as appropriate;



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

10

 Road Safety: tackling speeding and nuisance parking (particularly 
outside schools) were priorities being tackled with the aid of local 
residents and multi-agency initiatives aimed at promoting responsible 
driving behaviour through ‘pre-driver’ programmes and preventative 
work with new drivers.

In conclusion, the EARS Manager reinforced the importance of community 
engagement by the CSP and its partner Agencies, the ‘Golden Thread’ 
advocated jointly by the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable and embodied in the Kent Police and Crime Plan.

In response to subsequent questions from Members, the EARS Manager and 
Dartford’s District Commander and Neighbourhood Inspector gave the 
following responses:

 Vandalism and Car Theft: It was acknowledged that Dartford figures 
in both categories continued to be higher than the Kent average. Major 
contributing factors were the Bluewater shopping complex which 
accounted for 11% of Dartford crime and the Borough’s proximity to the 
A2 and M25 major arterial routes allied to high-speed rail services 
which facilitated cross-border crime. Highly organised London gangs 
with sophisticated technology were successfully circumventing 
electronic safeguards to steal top-range vehicles in the Borough; tool 
van theft was also on the increase in the wake of new construction in 
Dartford and the Swanscombe peninsular. The CSP, Kent Police and 
Dartford CSU continued to work hard to address both crime categories, 
but also encouraged public awareness and self-help through 
Neighbourhood Watch schemes, given reduced Police numbers. Going 
forward, it was hoped that a baseline level of crime had been 
established for the CSP in the current Assessment, to enable annual 
comparative exercises in the future, following the changes to several 
crime categories in 2013;

 Fly-Tipping: Council and Kent Police Officers from the CSU continued 
to address the problem with some success, including increased CCTV 
coverage at ‘hot-spots’. Parish and Borough Members were asked to 
report any/all new incidents to Dartford CSU, including those raised by 
Members that evening in Sutton–at-Hone and Hawley Parish. It was 
confirmed that the Council would retain overall resource levels in the 
CSU, despite planned personnel changes;

 Bluewater Complex: Continuing Member concern over the distorting 
effect Bluewater crime had on Dartford’s overall crime statistics [+11%] 
and the potential detrimental impact an inflated  crime rate posed for 
Dartford in terms of attracting new residents to the Borough, was 
acknowledged by Officers. It was noted that the Bluewater ‘inflation 
factor’ had been separated out in paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 [pages 27/28] 
of the SA document detailing ‘Theft and handling excluding vehicle 
interference’. Removing offences occurring within the Bluewater 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

11

Complex in this category would bring down Dartford’s overall figure 
significantly and much more in line with the Kent average;

 Acquisitive and Property Crime: Members had expressed concern 
that the reduction in Street Lighting by KCC had contributed to the 
incidences of burglary in the Borough in that thieves targeted dwellings 
during periods of reduced lighting. The Neighbourhood Inspector 
advised that temporal times for offences were monitored on a 2 weekly 
basis and Police resources deployed on a prioritised basis within the 
overall constraints of a reduced Force. The EARS Manager understood 
that the KCC Cabinet Member, Councillor Brazier, had undertaken to 
re-introduce street lighting during hours of darkness. A KCC Member 
present confirmed that this was the intention under a KCC reduced 
cost LED lighting initiative which was due to commence in September 
2015 in rural then urban areas. It was noted in this respect that turning 
street lighting ‘down’ rather than ‘off’ was an alternative option;

 Community Payback Scheme: Members were advised that the 
Scheme was being privatised following the recent split of probation and 
offender management work between the national Probation Service 
and privately run Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs) who 
would manage low risk offenders.  At present, Dartford CSU supported 
the Community Payback Scheme in terms of providing tools and some 
supervision and support. There was the potential that CRCs [Kent, 
Surrey and Sussex CRC for Dartford] could charge for the Scheme in 
the future; the current view of Dartford Officers was that such charging 
would be inappropriate and would not be supported. When matters 
became clearer, Members would be advised, including through the 
CSP Support Group.

The Chairman thanked the EARS Manager for his comprehensive 
presentation and the Neighbourhood Inspector and District Commander Kent 
Police for attending and responding to the Committee’s questions.

 

23. WORK PLAN UPDATE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Committee’s rolling Work Programme as set out in 
the report be noted.

24. DATES FOR FUTURE MEETINGS 

Members were asked to note the dates for future meetings of the Committee 
in the forthcoming 2015-16 municipal cycle, subject to final approval by the 
General Assembly of the Council at its Annual Meeting on 27 May 2015. 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2015

12

The meeting closed at 9.00 pm

Councillor R J Wells
CHAIRMAN



15 June 2015 - 31 October 2015

1 of 1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.
Development Policies Plan - 
'Publication' stage document

To agree the latest version of this 
Local Plan document as ‘sound’ and 
to allow a final stage of public 
representations to be made on it.

Cabinet
10 Sep 2015

General Assembly 
of the Council
12 Oct 2015

The document is 
reflecting the outcome of 
Draft Plan & Options 
public consultation (Dec 
2014 – Jan 2015) and 
other input such as the 
LDF Members Working 
Group.

Mark Aplin, Planning Policy 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343202
mark.aplin@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk




CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
22 July 2015

COMMUNITY SAFETY PERFORMANCE REPORT

1. SUMMARY

The performance report [attached at Appendix A] details performance relating to 
levels of crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB).
       
2. RECOMMENDATION

That the attached report, which was discussed by the Dartford & Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership on the 11 June 2015, be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 This report has been produced for the Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP) and details performance in relation to levels of crime and 
disorder and anti-social behaviour (ASB) recorded in Dartford and 
Gravesham for the financial year period of April 2014 to March 2015 
and compares them against anticipated crime levels, as provided by 
Kent Police. The report is provided for Members’ information.

3.2 Members are considering a document that has already been discussed 
and approved by the main Community Safety Partnership on 11 June 
2015.

3.3 The CSP questioned what could be done to improve Dartford’s position 
against other areas of Kent, and also sought explanation given that 
nearly half of the crime types had seen higher levels recorded than 
anticipated. In addition the Dartford and Gravesham CSP’s ranking in 
our ‘Most Similar Group’ (see 1.2.4 on page 2 of appendix A) has 
improved from 14th position in 2013-14 to 13th in 2014-15. The CSP 
was advised as follows.

3.4 Following the HMIC inspection into crime recording practices that was 
carried out in 2013 at the behest of the Kent Police & Crime 
Commissioner (PCC); Kent Police has the highest accuracy for 
recording crime nationally. HMIC carried out reviews of recording 
practices in other Forces between February and August 2014; and as 
other police forces adopt the same recording practices (now known as 
the ‘Kent Test’), it is likely that other areas will in turn see similar 
increases in their levels of recorded crime.

3.5 The anticipated crime figures are calculated from five years’ worth of 
recorded crime and are used to avoid target driven performance that 
focuses on only a previous year’s crime. Instead reducing risk and 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
22 July 2015

harm are now the key drivers for performance, and this was the 
message disseminated to the public by Kent Police.

3.6 Members are invited to consider the report. Representatives of the 
CSU and Kent Police will be available to respond to Members’ 
questions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None arising from this report

Legal Implications None specifically

Staffing Implications None arising from this report

Administrative Implications None arising from this report

Risk Assessment Any reduction or withdrawal of service would 
have a negative impact on crime and disorder 
within the Borough.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

A - CSP Performance Report (May 2015)

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

15th May
2015

Kit Weller,
Community Safety 
Officer

EARS N/A

Strategic 
(ES)



Appendix A

1

By: Kit Weller (Community Safety Officer, DBC)

To: Crime & Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee

Subject: Performance Report

Classification: Open

Summary: This report details performance relating to levels of crime and anti-social 
behaviour recorded in Dartford and Gravesham during the financial year 2014-
15 and the boroughs’ positions when compared to other Kent Districts and areas 
within our ‘Most Similar Group’.

Recommendations
Members of the CSP are asked to consider and comment upon the content of the report as they wish.

1. Kent Police Recorded Crime – Financial Year April 2014-March 2015

1.1 This report presents crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) data recorded in the last financial 
year, 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015. Data from 2013-14 was subject to review as part of HMIC’s 
audit of Kent Police’s crime recording practices, with changes made to recording methods as a 
result of this. In addition the Home Office altered several of the classifications for certain crime 
types, particularly violence offences. For these reasons comparisons are not made between 
2013-14 and 2014-15 figures, however in future, data from 2014-15 could be used as a base line 
for future performance reports. This report provides data published by Kent Police for both 
victim-based crimes and crimes against society, and compares figures with the anticipated 
number of offences. 

1.2 Overview – Total Crime 

1.2.1 Members will see from the table on page 2 that Dartford has recorded a higher number of crimes 
than anticipated, while Gravesham has experienced less than anticipated. Dartford recorded 
8,193 offences, 174 higher than anticipated; and Gravesham recorded 7,457 offences, 361 less 
than the anticipated figure. Across Kent there is no identifiable pattern, with all districts within 
several percent of their anticipated level. Canterbury exceeded their anticipated level by the 
largest amount (7.5%); while Shepway fell below their anticipated figure by 6.2%.

1.2.2 At the end of the last financial year Dartford’s rate of total crime per 1,000 population remained 
the second highest in Kent, with 82.8 offences per 1,000 population; whilst Gravesham saw the 
third highest rate with 72.5 offences per 1,000 population.  These rates compare with a Kent-
wide rate of 63.1 offences. However direct comparison between other Kent districts is not 
straightforward, and using the national ‘Most Similar Group’ (see 1.2.4) gives a better indication 
of performance against areas with similarities to Dartford & Gravesham.

1.2.3 In Dartford, it is a relatively even split between crime categories recording higher figures than 
anticipated and those recorded at less than the anticipated level. Worthy of note are figures for 
Burglary Dwelling, and Burglary Other Than Dwelling; 126 and 48 under anticipated level 
respectively. In Gravesham, the majority of crime types were recorded at a lower than 
anticipated level. Gravesham reported 23 less sexual offences than anticipated, and 23 less 
robberies. Burglary Dwelling and Burglaries Other Than Dwelling were recorded at 127 and 103 



Appendix A

2

less than anticipated respectively. Both boroughs recorded lower than anticipated levels of 
Crimes Against Society (48 and 186 respectively).

Total recorded crime – Kent
April 2014-March 2015

Total recorded crime Area

Volume Anticipated No. change % Change
Per 1000 

pop
Ashford 6602 6658 -56 -0.8 55.0
Canterbury 9223 8578 +645 +7.5 60.1
Dartford 8193 8019 +174 +2.2 82.8
Dover 6716 6414 +302 +4.7 60.1
Gravesham 7457 7818 -361 -4.6 72.5
Maidstone 9431 9173 +258 +2.8 60.0
Medway 18754 17637 +1117 +6.3 69.9
Sevenoaks 5699 5782 -83 -1.4 49.0
Shepway 6177 6584 -407 -6.2 56.8
Swale 9830 9411 +419 +4.5 71.4
Thanet 11788 11963 -175 -1.5 86.9
Tonbridge & Malling 5466 5646 -180 -3.2 44.8
Tunbridge Wells 4951 5186 -235 -4.5 42.9
Kent 110287 108869 +1418 +1.3 63.1

1.2.4 Comparisons with our Most Similar Group (MSG)
In respect of total crime, our CSP ranked in 13th position within our Most Similar Group (MSG) 
last year, leaving our rate of recorded crime per 1,000 population across our Partnership area 
higher than the MSG average.  Our position has improved from 14th in 2013-14, however we are 
some way off our previous rankings of 6th in 2011-12, and 9th in 2012-13. Other forces have 
followed Kent in reviewing their recording practices, and this may result in future changes to the 
levels of crime they record. This could affect future MSG standings as other CSPs adopt the 
‘Kent Test.’



Appendix A

3

iQuanta Barchart MSG – Crimes per 1,000 Residents
Kent – Dartford and Gravesham CSP

All crime
01 April 2014-31 March 2015

G
re

at
er

 M
an

ch
es

te
r -

 S
to

ck
po

rt

H
er

tfo
rd

sh
ire

 - 
B

ro
xb

ou
rn

e

W
es

t Y
or

ks
hi

re
 - 

K
irk

le
es

H
am

ps
hi

re
 - 

H
av

an
t

W
ilt

sh
ire

 - 
S

w
in

do
n

M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 P
ol

ic
e 

- H
av

er
in

g

G
re

at
er

 M
an

ch
es

te
r -

 B
ur

y

D
ev

on
 &

 C
or

nw
al

l -
 T

or
ba

y

E
ss

ex
 - 

Th
ur

ro
ck

E
ss

ex
 - 

B
as

ild
on

K
en

t -
 M

ed
w

ay

Th
am

es
 V

al
le

y 
- M

ilt
on

 K
ey

ne
s

K
en

t -
 D

ar
tfo

rd
 &

 G
ra

ve
sh

am

C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 - 

P
et

er
bo

ro
ug

h

S
us

se
x 

- C
ra

w
le

y

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

MSG Average Lower Bound Upper Bound

1.3 Violent crime

1.3.1 Both Dartford and Gravesham recorded significantly higher levels of violent crime during 2014-
15 than anticipated. In Dartford, there were 2,144 violent offences recorded - 289 offences 
higher than predicted; whilst in Gravesham 2,220 violent offences were recorded –137 greater 
than expected.  It is important to note that this is not unique – every District in Kent and Medway 
also recorded higher (and in some cases significantly higher) levels than the anticipated rates.  
Per 1,000 population, Dartford and Gravesham have the third and fourth highest levels in Kent 
(21.7 and 21.6 offences respectively). When comparing rates across Kent Districts and Medway, 
the rate is 18.4 offences; an increase on the 2013-14 Kent rate of 16.8 offences.

1.3.2 The majority of violent offences fell under the violence against the person category. There were 
1,925 offences of violence against the person in Dartford and 2,001 in Gravesham, accounting 
for 23% and 26% of all crime recorded in each area respectively. Whilst these proportions are 
significant it is important to remember that a minor assault, such as a push without injury, would 
still be recorded as violent crime and that ‘serious violent crime’ remains low in both areas.  

1.4 Domestic abuse

1.4.1 As explained in 1.1, it is not possible to draw direct comparisons between offences recorded in 
the last financial year and the previous year.  However, in 2014-15 there were 1,699 domestic 
abuse incidents recorded in Dartford and 2,083 incidents recorded in Gravesham. A 
considerable proportion of these incidents will also have been included within the offences 
recorded within the violent crime category.

1.4.2 There is positive news in that the percentage of repeat victims has been falling across the 
county, and reductions have been seen in both Dartford and Gravesham. In 2013-14, repeat 
victims accounted for 24.7% of domestic abuse victims in Dartford and 25.2% in Gravesham; 
with the county average at 25.0%. By March 2015 this had fallen to 23.4% in Dartford and 23.9% 
in Gravesend, with the county average at 23.6%. In actual terms, this means that there were 22 
less repeat victims in Dartford, and 27 less in Gravesham. This may be as a result of Multi-



Appendix A

4

Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) held by Police to support high-risk victims; and 
support offered to victims by Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVA), which are part 
funded by the CSP.

1.5 Acquisitive crime

1.5.1 There were 293 burglary dwelling offences recorded in Dartford in 2014-15 and 493 offences 
recorded in Gravesham. Dartford’s figure was 126 offences less than the anticipated number 
whereas Gravesham’s was 127 offences below that expected. In terms of rates of offences per 
1,000 households; Gravesham had the third highest rate of offences (10.7) in the county whilst 
Dartford’s rate of 7.3 offences per 1,000 households was in line with the Kent average of 7.4 
offences.

1.5.2 There were a total of 808 vehicle crime offences recorded in Dartford last year which translates 
to 8.2 offences per 1,000 population. In Gravesham there were 751 vehicle crimes, and per 
1,000 population this equates to 7.3 offences. In terms of offences per 1,000 population, these 
are the highest and second highest in Kent, with the Kent average rate being 5.2 offences per 
1,000 population. 

 
1.5.3 In respect of theft and handling offences, Dartford recorded 2,597 offences last year – 117 

offences higher than anticipated – whilst Gravesham recorded 1,699 offences, 2 offences less 
than expected.  As with previous years; it is essential to note that 47% of all theft and handling 
offences in Dartford fall within the category of shoplifting, and of the 1,230 shoplifting offences 
recorded, 581 or 47% of these offences took place in the Bluewater Complex. Shopliftings in 
Bluewater therefore account for 22% of Dartford’s Theft and Handling offences.

1.5.4 If the Bluewater offences are removed, the rate of shoplifting offences in Dartford drops to 6.6 
offences per 1,000 population – this brings it close to the average rate in Kent of 6.2 offences. 
Gravesham’s rate of shoplifting offences per 1,000 population was below the County average at 
5.0 offences. Both Borough CSUs work very closely with their respective Town Centre Crime 
Reduction Initiative Schemes (DTAC/G-Safe) and the sharing of intelligence, links with CCTV, 
and use of tools such as Exclusion Notices make a positive contribution towards reducing 
shoplifting. Local business security staff have also been placing greater emphasis on deterring 
would-be shoplifters rather than concentrating mainly on apprehending them once an offence 
has been committed and this too is proving effective.  



Appendix A

5

Recorded crime in Dartford and Gravesham
April 2014-March 2015 compared with anticipated levels and rates per 1,000 population

Dartford Gravesham

 Volume Anticipated
No. 

change
*Per 1000 

pop/hsehlds Volume Anticipated
No. 

change
*Per 1000 

pop/hsehlds
Victim based crime 7719 7497 +222 78.0 7015 7190 -75 68.2
Violent Crime 2144 1855 +289 21.7 2220 2083 +137 21.6
- Violence Against The Person 1925 1651 +274 19.5 2001 1818 +83 19.5
- Sexual Offences 141 119 +22 1.4 134 157 -23 1.3
- Robbery 78 85 -7 0.8 85 108 -23 0.8
Burglary Dwelling 293 419 -127 7.3 433 560 -127 10.7
Burglary Other than Dwelling 563 611 -48 5.7 623 726 -103 6.1
Vehicle Crime 808 924 -116 8.2 751 705 +46 7.3
- Theft Of Motor Vehicle 292 257 +35 3.0 244 205 +39 2.4
- Theft From Motor Vehicle 516 667 -151 5.2 507 500 +7 4.9
Vehicle Interference 103 76 +27 1.0 106 62 +44 1.0
Theft and Handling 2597 2480 +117 26.3 1699 1701 -2 16.5
- Shoplifting 1230 1094 +136 12.4 519 523 -4 5.0
- Theft of Pedal cycle 83 88 -5 0.8 74 75 -1 0.7
- Other Theft 1284 1298 -14 13.0 1106 1103 +3 10.8
Criminal Damage 1211 1110 +101 12.2 1183 1327 -144 11.5

         
Crimes against society 474 522 -48 4.8 442 628 -186 4.3
Drug Offences 168 207 -39 1.7 139 249 -110 1.4
Possession of weapons 16 23 -7 0.2 23 30 -7 0.2
Public order offences 195 203 -8 2.0 189 236 -47 1.8
Other crimes 95 89 6 1.0 91 113 -22 0.9

         
All Crime 8193 8019 +174 82.8 7457 7818 -361 72.5

 Please note: for Burglary Dwelling offences rates are calculated per 1,000 households.



Appendix A

6

1.6 Crimes against society

1.6.1 Under the revisions to reporting rules in 2013, drug offences are recorded as a crime against 
society. In 2014-15, there were 168 drug offences recorded in Dartford and 139 offences 
recorded in Gravesham.  In both cases these figures were lower than anticipated (by 39 and 110 
respectively). Per 1,000 population, the county average was 1.7 drug offences. Dartford sits 
exactly at this figure, while in Gravesham the rate was 1.4 offences per 1,000 population. It is 
important to clarify that unlike burglaries or vehicle thefts, drug offences are not reported by a 
victim. A drug offence is generally only recorded as a result of proactive police work which leads 
to drugs being found; such as if a person is searched on the street, or a warrant is executed at a 
property.   

1.7 Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)

1.7.1 ASB definitions were not altered when the reporting rules were amended in 2013, therefore 
comparisons with 2014-15 figures are still able to be drawn. During April 2014-March 2015, 
there were 2,735 ASB incidents recorded in Dartford compared to 2,911 incidents the previous 
year, representing a decrease of 6%. Gravesham also recorded a small reduction of 5.4% from 
3,720 to 3,520 offences during the same period. The Kent average for 2014-15 is a 3% 
reduction. The local reductions continue a downward trend and follow 1.6% and 3.4% reductions 
last year respectively. Whilst Ashford has seen a 23% reduction it is worth remembering that 
Dartford and Gravesham saw ASB drop by 17.2% and 21.3% respectively in 2012-13 period.

ASB Incidents – April 2014-March 2015 compared to the previous year

Area Apr 2013-
Mar 2014

Apr 2014-
Mar 2015 % change

Per 1,000
population

Ashford 2375 1825 -23.2 15.2
Canterbury 4421 4448 +0.6 29.0
Dartford 2911 2735 -6 27.7
Dover 3711 3587 -3.3 32.1
Gravesham 3720 3520 -5.4 34.2
Maidstone 3752 3800 +1.3 24.2
Medway 9557 9327 -2.4 34.8
Sevenoaks 2146 2066 -3.7 17.7
Shepway 3471 3144 -9.4 28.9
Swale 4232 4096 -3.2 29.7
Thanet 5973 6082 +1.8 44.8
Tonbridge & Malling 2392 2596 +8.5 21.3
Tunbridge Wells 2426 2335 -3.8 20.2
Kent 51087 49561 -3 28.3

1.7.2 However, the table above demonstrates that the rate of ASB incidents per 1,000 population 
(27.7) in Dartford is lower than the county average; whereas Gravesham’s rate (34.2) is the third 
highest recorded county-wide.

Kit Weller
Dartford Community Safety Unit
15 May 2015



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
22 July 2015

COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN 2015-16

1. Summary

 The Community Safety Plan 2015-16 is provided for Members’ consideration 
(Appendix A).
       
2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee considers the Community Safety Plan 2015-16 (Appendix A) 
and comments accordingly.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Committee, at its meeting on 11 February 2015, considered the 
annual Strategic Assessment prepared by and for the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP). The priorities 
identified, together with views expressed by partner agencies, 
residents and elected Members, were taken forward into this 
Community Safety Plan written for 2015-16, which was discussed and 
agreed by the CSP on 19 March 2015.  The Plan guides the work of all 
CSP partner agencies and ensures that the focus upon the Community 
Safety Partnership’s agreed priorities is maintained.

3.2 Members are invited to consider the Plan and comment accordingly. 
Officers and representatives of Kent Police will be available to respond 
to Members’ questions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None arising from this report

Legal Implications None specifically

Staffing Implications None arising from this report

Administrative Implications None arising from this report

Risk Assessment Any reduction or withdrawal of service would 
have a negative impact on crime and disorder 
within the Borough.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
22 July 2015

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A: Community Safety Plan 2015-2016 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

31/03/15 Matt Roberts
(01322) 3433567

EARS 
Strategic 
(ES)

N/A



APPENDIX A 

 

 



APPENDIX A 

 

  



  

 Category  Volume  Anticipated  Difference  

Dartford 

Victim based 
crime  

7795  7496  +299  

Crimes against 
society  

523  522  +1  

Gravesham 

Victim based 
crime  

7180  7190  -10  

Crimes against 
society  

521  629  -108  



  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

  



  



  



APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 



  

http://www.safedartford.gov.uk/
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/
http://www.kent.police.uk/
http://www.kent.gov.uk/
http://www.kent.fire-uk.org/
http://www.ksscrc.co.uk/
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.kent-pcc.gov.uk/


APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Calling 101 for situations that do not require an immediate police response helps keep 999 
available for when there is an emergency. An emergency is when a crime is happening, 
someone suspected of a crime is nearby, someone is injured, being threatened or a life is 
at risk, or there is a traffic incident involving personal injury or danger. 
 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Published March 2015 



               
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

22 July 2015

WORK PROGRAMME: 2014-15 MUNICIPAL YEAR and BEYOND

1. Summary

1.1 To agree the contents of a rolling Work Programme for the 2015-16 
municipal year and beyond. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the draft rolling Work Programme attached at Appendix A be approved 
subject to any amendments/additions Members may wish to make with the 
guidance of the Strategic Director (ES).

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 At its meeting on 12 September 2012 the Crime and Disorder (O&S) 
Committee, in consultation with the Strategic Director and other appropriate 
Officers, agreed a rolling Work Programme for the remainder of the 2012-13 
municipal year and beyond. 

3.2 During the 2014-15 municipal cycle the Committee: 

 Received a presentation from the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on its contribution to the aims of 
the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP); 

 Were updated on the meetings of the Kent and Medway Police and 
Crime Panel (PCP) from Dartford’s representative on the Panel, Cllr. 
Tony Martin and invited the Deputy Leader to attend the Committee on a 
regular basis as Dartford’s PCP rep.;

 Renewed their invitations to Lead Members Councillor Mrs Ann Allen 
MBE and Councillor Dave Hammock, to attend the Committee’s 
proceedings given their respective portfolios for Community & Taxpayer 
Involvement and Licencing and Enforcement;

 Received a joint presentation on ‘Policing in Kent’ from Paul Brandon, 
Deputy Chief Constable, Kent Police and Mark Stepney, Chief of Staff, 
Kent Police & Crime Commissioner’s Office. 

3.3     In addition, and on a statutory basis; the Committee reviewed the Dartford 
and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Community Safety 
Plan for 2014-15, received a mid-term Performance Progress Report on the 
CSP’s operations during the 2014-15 cycle and reviewed the Partnership’s 
Strategic Assessment (SA) 2014 document, used to inform the CSP’s 
subsequent Action Plan for 2014-15. 



              
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

23 July 2014

3.4  A revised rolling Work Programme for the 2015-16 municipal cycle and 
beyond (reflecting the work already undertaken by the Committee during 
2014-15) is attached at Appendix A for discussion and approval. Members 
and Officers may have further topics they wish to suggest for possible 
consideration by the Committee.

3.5     Any overview elements proposed for inclusion in the Work Programme are 
required to be notified to the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) in advance; ad-hoc scrutiny of performance areas (Draw-
downs) are not subject to prior CSP approval. 

3.6     The Committee also has a statutory obligation to include within its Work 
Programme consideration of the Strategic Assessment and Community 
Safety Plan documents, produced by the Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP) each year. 

3.7     The Committee’s remit, as set out in its Terms of Reference (ToRs) 
confirmed at the Annual Council Meeting held on 27 May 2015 (attached at 
Appendix B) is to; scrutinise the discharge of the crime and disorder 
functions (including anti-social behaviour (ASB) and Community Safety) of 
the responsible local authorities. The Committee may scrutinise the 
functions of the CSP as a whole, or of individual partnership agencies within 
the CSP.

4.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1     Scrutiny of the responsible local authorities [in the discharge of their crime 
and disorder functions] through the provision of an agreed Work Programme, 
should lead to an increase in public confidence, a reduction in anti-social 
behaviour and help meet the Safer Community Corporate Objective (SC1 
and SC2). 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment Reduction in the incidents of crime 

and disorder and ASB in Dartford 
Town Centre and environs.

6.   Appendix

Appendix A: Draft rolling Work Programme for 2015-16 and beyond;



              
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

23 July 2014

Appendix B: Terms of Reference (ToRs – 27 May 2015). 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Crime and 
Disorder (O&S) 
Agenda and 
Minutes of July 
2014 and 
February  2015;
ToRs as agreed 
on 27 May 2015 
Protocol June 
2015. 

July  2015 David Hook
01322 343276

Member 
Services
SD(ES)

N/A





Appendix A

CRIME and DISORDER (Overview & Scrutiny) COMMITTEE
 

ROLLING WORK PROGRAMME 2015-16 and Beyond

Detail:

On a discretionary basis and with the prior agreement of the 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) as appropriate, to review the 
contributions made by partner agencies to the aims of the CSP.

Plus:
 To note the Minutes of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel 

(PCP) and receive updates from the Council’s Panel representative.

 Draw-Downs to be decided on an ad-hoc basis.

On a statutory basis to;

 Consider the CSP’s annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document;
 Consider the CSP’s intermediary Performance Report;
 Consider the CSP’s annual Community Safety Plan document.

The Work Programme, as set out in the Work Plan, is subject to review at 
each meeting of the Committee. Discretionary items may be rescheduled 
and/or new items added, in accordance with the Committee’s wishes and the 
guidance of the Strategic Director (External Services). 



Appendix A

Draft Work Plan 2015–16 and Beyond 

Meeting Work Plan Items

Summer 
2015
(July)

Community Safety Plan 
2015-16

Kent Police and 
Crime Panel (PCP) 
Update

Performance 
Report 

Winter 
2016
(February)

Strategic Assessment 
2015

Kent Police and 
Crime Panel (PCP) 
Update

Summer 
2016
(July)

Community Safety Plan 
2016-17

Kent Police and 
Crime Panel (PCP) 
Update

Performance 
Report

Winter 
2017
(February)

Strategic Assessment 
2016

Kent Police and 
Crime Panel (PCP)
Update

Member Services July 2015



APPENDIX B
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L

ANNUAL MEETING
27 May 2015

STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS
OF THE COUNCIL

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference]

Chairman: Councillor R J Wells
Vice-Chairman: Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Membership: Councillors S R Jarnell, M B Kelly, R Lees, C S McLean, 

M A Maddison and D J Mote.

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

General Provisions

‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-
social behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse 
of drugs, alcohol and other substances.

1. To review and scrutinise the discharge of the crime and disorder functions of the 
responsible authorities (local authorities, fire and rescue authorities, police authorities, 
the police, primary care trusts) which comprise the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership (the CSP).as set out in these Terms of Reference.

2. To review and scrutinise the discharge of any other local crime and disorder matter 
related to the Council’s crime and disorder functions.

3. To make reports or recommendations as appropriate, to the GAC, Cabinet, the CSP or 
any one or more responsible authority etc.

4. To review responses from and monitor the action (if any), taken by the CSP, an 
individual responsible authority, Officers, GAC, Cabinet etc.

Overview Functions

5. No less than once in every twelve month period, to review strategies in connection with 
the discharge by the CSP of its crime and disorder functions and make reports or 
recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above.

Scrutiny Functions



6. No less than once in every twelve month period, to scrutinise decisions made, or action 
taken, by the CSP and the Council of its crime and disorder functions and make reports 
or recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above.

7. To consider any local crime and disorder matter referred to the Committee by a local 
ward Member under the Councillor Call for Action provisions referred to in the 
Committee’s Protocol.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

22 July 2015

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT  2014/15

1. Summary

To consider a report of the work carried out by the Crime and Disorder (Overview 
and Scrutiny) Committee during the preceding 2014/15 municipal year.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the Committee’s Annual 
Report for 2014/15 is submitted to the next meeting of the General Assembly of 
the Council.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol [Appendix B] the draft Crime 
and Disorder (O&S) Committee Annual Report 2014/15 is attached for 
consideration at Appendix A.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The work of the Committee supports the aim of creating Safer Communities 
and a safer Borough in which to live, work and socialise.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A: Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee draft Annual Report 
2014/15;
Appendix B: Crime and Disorder (O&S) Protocol [June 2015];



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

22 July 2015

Appendix C: Terms of Reference (ToRs) (27 May 2015);

Appendix D: Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Dartford &   
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) [June 2015]

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Crime and Disorder (O&S) 
Protocol (June 2015), MoU with 
D&G CSP (June 2015), ToRs 
(27 May 2015), Annual Report 
2013/14, Committee Agendas 
and Minutes dated 23 July 2014 
and 11 February 2015 

David Hook
Committee Coordinator

Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services/
Executive 

Directorate 
(ES)

N/A



CRIME AND DISORDER 
(OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY)        

COMMITTEE

Draft Annual Report 2014-15

APPENDIX A



Introduction and Background

The Council has a legal duty under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to carry 
out all of its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and 
disorder and reduce re-offending in its area. ‘Crime and disorder’ is defined 
as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social behaviour or 
other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of 
drugs, alcohol and other substances.

The Council appointed the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee in October 2009 under the provisions of the Police and Justice 
Act 2006 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 and in direct response to the provisions of the subsequent Crime and 
Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009. 

The 2006 and 2007 Acts and the 2009 Regulations granted the Council the 
power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters and hold the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP) and other partner 
organisations to account for their performance, including their work with the 
Council to meet specific local targets, as set out in detail in the Memorandum 
of Understanding (MoU) between the Council and the CSP (attached at 
Appendix D). 

The Crime and Disorder Committee’s Protocol (attached at Appendix B) 
requires it to review and scrutinise, and make reports and recommendations, 
regarding the functioning of the responsible authorities listed below which 
comprise the Dartford and Gravesham CSP: 

Dartford Borough Council

Gravesham Borough Council

Kent County Council

Kent Police

Kent Fire and Rescue Service

Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 

Work carried out by the Crime & Disorder Committee compliments the work 
of the Scrutiny and Policy Overview Committees, whose remits are set out 
in their respective Protocols. 

The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to the Council annually on the 
work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This Annual Report 
provides a summary of the Committee’s work during the 2014/15 Municipal 
Year drawn from the comprehensive Minutes of individual meetings as 
published in full on the Council’s website.



Annual Report  for 2013-14

On 23 July 2014 at the first meeting in the ensuing 2014-15 municipal cycle 
the Committee noted the contents of the draft Crime and Disorder (O&S) 
Annual Report for the preceding 2013-14 municipal year and agreed to submit 
the document to the next meeting of the General Assembly of the Council for 
adoption as submitted.

Regular Attendees

The Committee renewed their invitation to Councillor Mrs Ann Allen, Lead 
Member for Community and Taxpayer Involvement and Councillor David 
Hammock, Lead Member for Licensing and Enforcement to continue to attend 
Crime & Disorder meetings given their respective portfolio responsibilities. 

Members also renewed their invitation to the Deputy Leader, in his role as the 
Council’s representative on the Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP), to 
continue to attend the Committee’s meetings and provide updates on the 
Panel’s principal activities and ongoing relationship with Kent’s Police and 
Crime Commissioner (PCC). 

Standing invitations were also renewed to the Strategic Director (ES), 
Dartford’s District Commander (Kent Police) and all Dartford CSU staff 
(Council and Police) to attend the Committee’s meetings as and when 
required and their principle duties permitted. 

WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW

The Committee met twice during the 2014-15 municipal cycle on 23 July 
2014 and 11 February 2015 receiving reports on individual WP items, 
updates on the work of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel (PCP), 
noted the contents of any extant Regulation 9 Notice [formerly the Forward 
Plan] and confirmed the Minutes of the previous meeting on each occasion. 

On 23 July 2014 in accordance with its Protocol, the Committee agreed the 
contents of the rolling Work Programme (WP) for the ensuing 2014-15 
municipal year and beyond as set out in the table below:  

Rolling Work Plan 2014-15 (and Beyond)

Meeting Work Plan Items

Summer 
2014 (July)

CSP Community 
Safety and 
Action  Plan 
2014-15

Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (DGS 
CCG): Contribution to the 
Aims of the CSP

PCP Update

Agree 
Work Plan



Winter 2015 
(February) 

CSP Strategic 
Assessment 
2014 

Address from Kent PCC and 
DCC to full Council in 
Council Chamber  - ‘Vision 
for Policing In Kent’ 

Review of new legislation on 
ASB [if passed]

Review 
Work Plan

Summer 
2015
(July)  

CSP Community 
Safety and  
Action Plan 

2015-16

Performance 
Update

Kent PCP Dartford Panel 
rep. 

Review 
Work Plan

Winter 2016
(February)

CSP Strategic 
Assessment 
2015

Kent PCP update from 
Dartford Panel rep. 

Review 
Work Plan

Summer 
2016 (July)

CSP Community 
Safety and 
Action Plan 
2016-17

Kent PCP update from 
Dartford Panel rep.

Agree 
Work Plan

The Committee agreed that the Work Plan set out above would be reviewed 
at subsequent meetings, to enable existing items to be rescheduled if 
necessary and discretionary items added or removed. Details of completed 
Work Plan items in the 2014-15 municipal cycle under review are set out 
below.

WORK PLAN ITEMS COMPLETED in 2014-15 

23 July 2014 

ITEM 1: DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP (CCG): CONTRIBUTION TO THE AIMS OF THE 
DARTFORD & GRAVESHAM COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP (CSP) 

The Committee received a presentation from the CCG’s Chief Operating 
Officer, Mrs Debbie Stock, outlining the Group’s contribution to the aims of the 
CSP. 

Members were informed of the CCG’s structure and that it worked in 
partnership with the Public Health Directorate of Kent County Council (KCC) 
to commission health services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley. The 



principal role of the CCG, in consultation with GPs across the Group area, 
was to identify issues and services that were not working effectively and to 
commission further resources as required, to meet perceived patient need. 
Securing financial savings in the commissioning of those services was vital in 
the continuing climate of budgetary constraint.  

Members received a PowerPoint presentation that outlined the CCG’s vision 
to:

• Reduce health inequalities and prevent ill health;
• Deliver high quality and safe care including primary care;
• Commission comprehensive Healthcare focused around patient care 

and experience - ‘right care, right place, right time, right outcome’; 
• Drive efficiency and value for money (VfM), without reducing care 

quality;
• Ensure effective engagement with patients, carers and the wider 

population;
• Lead continued innovation, research, education & training to stay 

ahead of the field and successfully plan for the future;
• Maintain organisational health, robust governance and continued good 

reputation.

The presentation explained how the CCG worked in partnership with Health 
and Wellbeing Boards in the area to tackle the key CSP priority areas of 
Domestic Abuse, Substance Misuse and Mental health issues. Details 
included:-

Domestic abuse

• The CCG had undertaken  work with Healthy Young Minds (KCC 
service), CAMHS, KMPT and Public Health Kent to improve the 
emotional wellbeing of victims, especially children, to ensure health 
practitioners knew how to spot the signs of domestic abuse; 

• Domestic abuse had been under reported historically, but reporting had 
increased in Dartford which was considered to be positive. Where 
cases of domestic abuse resulted in significant physical and health 
impacts for the victims the necessary resources were commissioned by 
the KCC Public Health team.

Substance misuse

• The CCG continued to work closely with KCC Public Health and drug 
and alcohol teams to address drug and alcohol abuse;

• Linked with Public Health to look at alcohol pathways and improving 
referrals to treatment (Integrated Care Pathway processes both from 
the acute hospital and in the community);

• Supported integrated primary care teams working to identify and 
support patients with problems and ensuring appropriate referral 
mechanisms;

• Reviewed data at GP practice level to help support the targeting of 
interventions.



Mental health

• The CCG held the core commissioning responsibility to improve access 
to mental health services for both adults and children to ensure 
effective early prevention treatment was provided;

• Supported emotional resilience and wellbeing programmes in the 
community in conjunction with Public Health, KCC;

• Developed the Personality Disorder peer support group – enabling 
sufferers to share issues and concerns and receive support from others 
who had experienced similar situations and help build confidence and 
social skills;

• Worked with KCC on developing and implementing an all age pathway 
for people with autism and ADHD;

• Helped to Increase  access to psychological therapy support;
• Commissioned ‘Early Intervention’ workers to support young people 

with psychosis and their families to access the right support;
• Commissioned the ‘Porchlight’ service to provide individually tailored 

support to individuals with mental health needs to access community 
resources and reduce social isolation.

The Chief Operating Officer concluded her presentation to Members with a 
summary of the roles of the key health service providers:

• Public Health (KCC): key commissioner of preventative services to 
achieve a positive impact on the Community Safety Plan;

• NHS England: responsible for commissioning health and preventative 
services within prisons ;

• CCG(s): commissioning of Mental health services to support people 
with a wide level of mental health needs;

• DGS Health and Wellbeing Board:  vehicle for improving joint working 
between agencies in Kent.

Members also received a presentation from the Acting Director of Public 
Health KCC, Mr Andrew Scott-Clark, on the contribution of his Directorate to 
CSP aims. 

The Committee were informed that under the provisions of the Health and 
Social Care Act 1977, Kent County Council had been allocated the entire 
health budget for Kent amounting to £49.9M in the 2014-15 Financial Year. 
Previously Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) had commissioned single services 
from the KCC Communities Directorate, but under new arrangements all drug 
and alcohol interventions throughout Kent were now commissioned through 
the Kent Drugs and Alcohol Action Team (KDAAT). 

The KDAAT contract had been inherited from the NHS and was separate to 
KCC’s Public Health Directorate provision and that of Kent’s CCGs. However, 
it remained the case that KCC Public Health, KDAAT and Kent CCGs had to 
compete for their finances from a single budget provision for Kent as a whole 
[£49.9M in 2014-15]. The impact alcohol and substance misuse had on public 
health was acknowledged by KCC Public Health and Kent CCGs, who now 
worked together with KDAAT in a new co-ordinated strategy tailored to the 
aims of the CSP as a whole, linked to local Health and Wellbeing Boards 



through a shared plan. In the longer term, the aim was to pursue a strategy of 
prevention [of alcohol and drug misuse] through Kent Police and the schools 
system – “getting the right work done at the right time in the right place”. 

The Chief Operating Officer and the Acting Director further advised the 
Committee in response to subsequent specific questions from Members that: 

 A co-ordinated intervention by Public Health and partner agencies was 
required to address the rise in hospital admissions being recorded for 
the historical problem of liver damage caused by alcohol abuse;

 Public Health needed to do more to re-enforce the message and 
highlight the dangers to the public of excessive drinking;

 Local Authorities needed to continue to review licences and intercede 
with landlords and club owners when concerns were raised by the 
public over excessive drinking and/or anti-social behaviour;

 Low alcohol pricing by supermarkets and other retail outlets was 
acknowledged as a ‘driver’ of increased home consumption and ‘pre-
loading’ prior to joining the night-time economy, but the pricing of 
alcohol was the remit of central Government;

 Local commissioning of services by CCGs was an important step to 
addressing these and other health issues, with GP Boards adopting a 
clinical approach based on patient need;

 The major change in commissioning patient health services from a 
hospital to a community based CCG operation would continue to be 
challenging, given the need to integrate the requirements of CCGs, 
KCC Public Health and Wellbeing Boards.

The Committee were further advised by the Acting Director that, in previous 
years, PCTs had been responsible for commissioning all health services in 
Kent, employing a national template to try to address all local needs. The 
change to commissioning by a variety of health bodies including NHS 
England, Local Authority Public Health, CCGs and Wellbeing Boards was 
complex and required the separate bodies to follow an integrated agenda with 
both dedicated central and tertiary health pathways, clear commissioning to 
maximise resources and avoid overlap to obtain maximum outcomes. 
Members were advised by the Strategic Director (External Services) that the 
Health Profile for Dartford (in common with several other areas in Kent) had 
highlighted violent crime as a continued cause for concern. The success of 
the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and the Dartford Community Safety 
Unit (CSU) demonstrated the benefits of co-located multi-agency working. 

Similar integration of health providers, would, in time, derive similar 
advantages and benefits and enable health agencies to work in a more co-
ordinated and structured fashion; including more effective links with the CSU, 
Kent Police and the Council’s Housing team, in a holistic approach to meeting 
patient need in frequently inter-related areas. The role of Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and their sub-groups in the effective integration of health 
service provision would grow, with Boards providing important linking 
mechanisms to address all the needs of patients and victims of crime, many 
of whom required assistance in frequently inter-related areas of health 
provision.



The Committee received an address from Councillor Mrs Ann Allen, in her 
role as a Dartford representative on the Dartford and Gravesham and 
Swanley Health and Wellbeing Board. Members were advised of the progress 
that had been made by the Board in conjunction with KCC, the Children’s 
Board and the Children’s Operating Board in terms of partnership working. 
Useful work had also been undertaken in schools with Head Teachers 
through the ‘Freedom Programme’ for kids, with a particular area of work 
having been undertaken with young boys who had verbally or physically 
abused their mothers. The Dementia Society had also been successful in 
addressing the community transport needs of their members in co-operation 
with the Go-Ahead bus company and the Youth Council had assisted in the 
training of children who had to cope with dementia sufferers in their families. 

The Committee expressed their thanks to the Chief Operating Officer, the 
Acting Director for Public Health, Councillor Allen and Officers for their 
attendance and contribution to the proceedings that evening.
ITEM 2: KENT POLICE AND CRIME PANEL (PCP) - UPDATE

The Committee received a second update on the activities of the Kent Police 
and Crime Panel (PCP) from Dartford’s representative on the Panel. Members 
were advised that the PCP had met twice in the intervening period on 28 May 
and 5 June 2014, since the Committee were last updated in February that 
year.

On 28 May 2014 the PCP had considered a report on the recording of crime 
in Kent, requested by the Panel following the decision by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner earlier in 2013, that Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary (HMIC) undertakes an audit of how crime was recorded by Kent 
Police. The HMIC audit had revealed that only 90% of reported crime in Kent 
was accurately recorded and deemed the inspection outcome ‘Unsatisfactory’. 
Accuracy levels for Kent Police had risen to 97% (June 2014) and compared 
favourably with other Forces subsequently inspected by HMIC in England and 
Wales who only averaged 80% accuracy for recorded crime. 

On 5 June 2014 the PCP had met the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
to discuss the airing of the controversial Channel 4 (C4) documentary - ‘Meet 
the Police Commissioner’. The Panel felt that the C4 documentary had 
reflected poorly on the PCC and her judgement and may by extension have 
damaged the reputation of Kent Police. The Panel had, as a consequence, 
sought, and accepted, an explanation from the PCC concerning her decision 
to participate in the documentary.

Following the broadcasting of the C4 documentary on 29 May 2014 the Panel 
had asked the PCC to reconsider her Communications Protocol and 
requested that she bring a revised document to the Panel’s next meeting in 
July 2014 meeting for discussion and subsequent approval by PCP Members. 

The Deputy Leader was thanked by the Committee for his further update on 
PCP matters and it was agreed that PCP Minutes would be included within 
the Crime & Disorder Committee’s agenda papers in future, to provide 
background and context to verbal updates from the Council’s representative 
on the PCP.
 



ITEM 3: PERFORMANCE

The Committee considered the Performance Report (PR) presented to the 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) on 26 June 
2014.

The PR had detailed performance in relation to levels of crime and anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) recorded separately in the Boroughs of Dartford and 
Gravesham during the financial year 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014. The 
Committee were advised by the Community Safety Officer (CSO) that the rise 
in crime statistics recorded across most categories in the PR should be 
viewed in the context of the major changes that had taken place since 2013 in 
the methodology for recording crime and monitoring performance. The 
changes in crime recording, which impacted directly on performance 
assessment, had been instituted following the 2013 inspection of Kent Police 
by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC). The inspection had 
been requested by Kent’s Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC), who had 
expressed concerns over the accuracy of crime recording by Kent Police. 

Following the HMIC inspection in 2013 Kent Police now recorded all crime 
under two distinct categories:

(i) ‘Victim-based crime’ - e.g. assault; and
(ii) ‘Crimes against society’ - e.g. arrest for the possession of drugs.

The total of the two new categories for crime recording in Kent were then 
compared against an anticipated crime rate, created from statistics for total 
recorded crime in the County over the preceding five year period. The 5 year 
comparison exercise had established a performance trend that would be used 
to establish a base-line going forward for future annual performance 
comparator exercises. Prior to 2013 performance monitoring had been based 
on a comparator exercise based on recorded crimes committed in 
consecutive 12 month periods. This had led Kent Police to adopt a ‘target 
driven’ culture to combat crime, which had now been replaced by the new 
focus on lowering ‘risk and harm’ to the public, rather than chasing numerical 
performance targets. 

The Committee were informed that following the HMIC inspection in 2013, the 
accuracy of crime recording by Kent Police had risen from 90% to 96%. Both 
ratings compared favourably with those of other Forces subsequently 
inspected by HMIC, which had revealed accuracy levels for recording crime 
as low as 60% with an average figure between 70-75%. All Forces in England 
would have to adjust their future recording of crime in the same way as Kent 
had done, a process now known as the ‘Kent Test’. 

Members were asked to note that the new crime recording categories 
imposed by HMIC on Kent Police had yet to be rolled-out across all Forces 
listed in our Most Similar Group (MSG) – CSP’s with a similar demographic to 
the joint Dartford & Gravesham CSP. As a consequence, Dartford & 
Gravesham’s recorded position within the MSG table was not truly 
representative It was confirmed that the recording of crime in Bluewater for 



both theft from retail outlets and vehicle crime was reported separately from 
the figures for Dartford. 

Members were advised of a further important factor to be taken into account 
regarding the increase in recorded crime in the PR. Following the HMIC 
inspection of the Kent Force in 2013, some two thousand (2,000) historic 
reports (mainly of domestic abuse) had been added to the 2012-13 recorded 
crime figures on a retrospective basis. This had inevitably led to an increase 
in recorded crime in the 2013-14 PR, in addition to skewing the actual ‘in-year’ 
figures. Positive outcomes recorded in the PR included a fall in repeat 
incidents of domestic violence (DV), allied to increased victim reporting of 
domestic abuse. The latter development was seen as a positive indicator of 
victim confidence in the Police and other Agencies dealing with domestic 
abuse.  

The Strategic Director (ES) advised Members that the CSP might never reach 
a stable base-line for the calculation of recorded crime given the likelihood of 
further changes in crime categories by the Home Office in the future. 

What was important was to make the best use of available data and statistics 
and to contextualise that information in the Most Similar Group (MSG) 
comparator exercise. The Committee resolved to note the contents of the 
Performance Report.

ITEM 4: COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN 2014-15 

The Committee received a briefing from the Community Safety Officer (CSO) 
on the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s Community 
Safety Plan 2014-15.

Members were advised that the key priorities identified in the 2014-15 
Community Safety Plan were the same as those identified in the 2013-14 Plan 
considered by the Committee on 12 February 2014 as part of the CSP’s 
annual Strategic Assessment document. The key priorities for 2014-15 were 
confirmed as combating:

Anti-social behaviour (ASB)
Violent Crime including domestic abuse (DA)
Substance misuse (alcohol and drug-related crime and ASB)
Property crime (domestic burglary and theft)
Reducing re-offending
Road Safety

The Committee was advised that whilst the 2014-15 Plan retained the same 
priorities as identified in the 2013-14 document, new Sub-Groups had been 
established with revised action plans for each priority area. The Violent 
Crime Groups had been disbanded and their work re-distributed between the 
Domestic Abuse Forum (DAF) and the Drugs and Alcohol Action Group 
(DAAG). Detailed work undertaken by DAF in the period under review had 
included new prevention injunction mechanisms; including ‘Claire’s Law’ 
which enabled people to see if their new partners had a prior history of 
domestic abuse. The enhancement of multi-agency co-operation through 1-



Stop-Shops to address Domestic Abuse and a programme to support children 
who had witnessed DA had been other areas of important activity.

The work of the Drugs and Alcohol Action Group (DAAG) (Substance 
Misuse Group) had included looking at ways to combat the increased use of 
‘legal highs’ such as nitrous oxide inhalation and addressing alcohol related 
violence. Combating property crime had been pursued by supporting the 
efforts of the Business Crime Reduction Partnership, Dartford Town against 
Crime (DTAC). 

Kent Probation had been split to form a National Probation Service 
(responsible for ‘high risk’ offenders) and a number of area based 
Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs) responsible for all other 
categories of offender. Work with local CRCs had been undertaken by the 
Reducing Reoffending Group (RRG) to establish better ways to address 
issues caused by repeat offenders who had served sentences of 12 months 
or less - a group which frequently committed high numbers of offences over 
their criminal lifetimes. Other Interventions undertaken aimed at reducing re-
offending had included voluntary tagging under the ‘Operation Buddy’ 
scheme. The Buddy scheme provided boundaries for offenders who, by being 
tagged, were given an ‘excuse’ to avoid their peers who might otherwise have 
involved the Scheme participants in further criminal activity. 

The Scheme also enabled the Police to save valuable time and resources by 
checking the whereabouts of tagged offenders at all times via GPS tracking. 
This enabled the Police to discount tagged offenders from their enquiries of 
new crimes at an early stage, rather than automatically seeking out past 
offenders when a new crime fitted their profile.

The Road Safety Group had worked to improve road safety measures and 
Dartford had benefited from a drop in the number of those killed or seriously 
injured (KSI). It was again noted in this context that Dartford’s proximity to the 
major arterial routes of the A2 and M25 meant that 75% of those involved in 
KSIs in the Dartford area were non- residents and not truly representative of 
the Borough’s drivers.

The Committee resolved to note the contents of the CSP’s Community Safety 
Plan for 2014-15 and thanked the CSO for his presentation.

11 February 2015

Item 1: Presentation – ‘Joint Vision for Policing in Kent’
Members received a joint presentation from Mr Mark Stepney Chief of Staff in 
the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office and Paul Brandon, Deputy Chief 
Constable, Kent Police.
The PCC’s Chief of Staff (CoS) began the joint presentation to Members with 
a summary of the Commissioner’s role and responsibilities Mrs Barnes’ 
principal responsibilities as PCC for Kent and Medway were to:

 Determining the Strategic Direction for Kent Police; 
 Set the Police Budget;
 Consult with the Public to give a single voice on Policing issues;



 Hiring [and firing] the Chief Constable;
 Holding the Chief Constable to account; 
 Working with key partners e.g. Kent’s Police and Crime Panel (PCP). 

Members were informed that the strategic direction taken by Kent Police was 
dictated by the 7 key elements contained within the County’s Police and 
Crime Plan which, for Kent, were to:

 1: Cut crime and catch criminals;
 2: Protect the public from serious harm;
 3: Prevent crime, anti-social behaviour (ASB) and reduce repeat 

victimisation and offending;
 4: Ensure visible community policing was at the heart of Kent policing; 
 5: Putting  victims and witnesses at the heart of the Police process;
 6: Deliver value for money (VfM);
 7: Meet national commitments for policing.

A Police and Crime Plan was a statutory requirement for all Forces and 
covered a 4 year financial cycle, refreshed on an annual basis. The current 4 
year Plan for Kent Police had been drawn up by the Commissioner in 
consultation with the present Chief Constable, Alan Pughsley. 

The Committee were advised by the Chief of Staff that that the PCC and the 
CC shared a joint vision for policing in Kent based on the treatment of victims 
and the safeguarding of witnesses within a responsive and caring policing 
regime. The PCC’s Engagement Strategy with the public ensured that public 
concerns were addressed and where appropriate prioritised within the Plan. 
Holding the Chief Constable to account was a statutory obligation of the PCC 
and was achieved through 1 to 1 sessions between the Commissioner and 
the Chief Constable and a mixture of formal and informal forums with partner 
agencies and the public. Setting the current Kent Police budget in the 
continuing climate of fiscal restraint had been challenging.  Savings of £46M 
had been required during the lifetime of the current [4 year] Plan and had 
been achieved primarily through a reduction of some 400 officers and civil 
support staff. The last Plan refresh exercise completed in February 2015 and 
approved by Kent’s Police and Crime Panel (PCP), had agreed additional 
funding of £1.6M to preserve 30 (thirty) permanent Police Officer posts. New 
fiscal measures had also been agreed with the PCP to further engage with 
Youth and to help prevent child sexual exploitation. In terms of meeting 
present day national commitments for policing; Kent Police led the way for the 
accurate recording of reported crime; following an inspection of the Force by 
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) in 2013. Kent Police now 
achieved an accuracy rate in terms of recording reported crimes of between 
96-97%. This compared very favourably with other Forces in England and 
Wales subsequently inspected by HMIC, who now required all Forces in 
England and Wales to pass the ‘Kent Test’ and achieve crime recording levels 
of at least 90%. 

Members were advised that the vision for future policing in Kent was based on 
the District policing model, which was held together by a ‘golden thread’ of 
victim support and witness protection. The District model enabled Kent to be 
an effective Police Force that valued quality of delivery, humanity and cultural 



diversity and to face and rectify mistakes when made. The District model 
worked well in terms of meeting public expectation and was endorsed by 
Councils at all levels throughout Kent. However, the District model faced 
significant challenges in the next 4 year fiscal cycle, given the need for a 
further £60M in projected cuts to the existing Kent Police operation. The £46M 
of savings already secured by Kent Police had been achieved through 
significant cuts to front- line staff; augmented by further savings achieved 
through the sharing of back-room operations for HR, Finance and IT with 
Essex Police. 

The projected additional savings required of £60M [over the next 4 year cycle] 
equated to 60% of the current Kent police budget and would pose significant 
challenges for the existing District policing model at both the local and 
national level. Despite advances in technology such as body cameras and 
virtual courts [conducted by video link] allied to other shared back-office 
functions with Essex Police; staffing costs continued to account for 80% of 
Kent’s police budget. Given the increased scale of additional savings required 
in the next 4 year cycle, partnership working between Police Forces and 
Agencies e.g. Fire and Rescue, Probation and Public Health Services, would 
become increasingly important and necessary. 

Members received a second presentation from the Deputy Chief Constable 
(DCC) Paul Brandon.  He advised Members that Kent had an excellent Force 
which held a good record in relation to inspections and was intelligence led, 
characteristics which were vital to meet the unique geographical challenges 
Kent faced as the U.K.’s gateway to Europe. North Kent’s proximity to the 
Metropolitan area posed further challenges for Kent Police from the influx of 
cross-border crime from London and Essex, facilitated by the major arterial 
routes of the M25 and the A2. Recent infrastructure developments in Kent, 
including the London Paramount project in the Swanscombe Peninsular of 
Dartford would also present fresh challenges for Kent Police. Combating Child 
Exploitation was another increasing area of current work across the County, 
particularly in East Kent. Improved technology e.g. body worn cameras and 
tablets allowed Officers to remain in the field longer and submit reports 
remotely. Collaboration with Essex Police continued to strengthen through 
combined intelligence and joint operations and the sharing of back-room 
functions for HR, IT and Finance. Members of the public and offenders with 
mental health issues continued to be a significant drain on Police staff and 
resources, the Police were not always the most suitable Agency to deal with 
such incidents, but once contacted, they had a duty to respond, at least in the 
first instance.

The DCC confirmed that the Chief Constable and the Commissioner shared a 
joint vision for Policing in Kent going forward, building on the cultural shift 
undertaken Kent Police away from a policy of numerical targeting to one of 
quality service to the public. He advised that the most recent monitoring of 
victims of crime had recorded a satisfaction rating of 80%. Performance 
delivery had been achieved by placing Local Policing at the centre of the 
District model which gave equal priority to operational demand, visible local 
policing and local reassurance measures, aimed at reducing overall demand 
in the face of the requirement for continued savings. Better use of technology 
and collaboration with partner Agencies and Essex Police had achieved the 
savings of some £47M required under the Coalition Government’s first 



Comprehensive Spending Review [CSR1]. However, the Chief Constable had 
significant concerns over the ability of the Kent Force to sustain the £60M of 
further savings required under CSR2 and continue to operate in its current 
format. 

Members were informed that Kent Police had managed continuity and change 
to date through improved focus on Local District Policing Teams as 
exemplified in Dartford by the joint CSU operation based in the Civic Centre 
staffed by both Police and Council officers. Kent retained 3 Police Divisions 
but the future shape and size of the Force remained subject to further debate 
and review. Moving forward, Kent Police would be required to identify further 
savings of £20M in 2015/16, the first year of CSR2. These savings would be 
required despite the increased demand on Police resources posed by mental 
health cases in Police custody; historic sex abuse cases in the wake of the 
Saville inquiry and Operation Yew Tre; increased measures to combat current 
cases of child exploitation and combating the high level of perceived terrorist 
threat. The DCC advised that some Police functions and areas of current 
activity would have to be re-assessed further, perhaps even cease altogether. 
If that proved to be the case a comprehensive communications strategy would 
be required by Kent Police and the PCC’s Office to positively engage with the 
public and key partner Agencies. 

The Committee and other Borough and Parish Members present then 
participated in a Q & A session with the Deputy Chief Constable and the 
Crime Commissioner’s Chief of Staff. Salient points confirmed in that further 
discussion included: 

 London Paramount development in Greenhithe Peninsular:  Kent 
Police (KP) had held talks with London Paramount in December 2014 
to flag the importance of appropriate security arrangements at major 
construction sites to combat acquisitive and vehicle crime for Dartford 
and North Kent. KP awaited a written response from London 
Paramount, but were committed to working positively with the 
consortium given their investment in the Dartford area;

 Stray and unattended Horses: Kent Police powers were limited to 
road traffic issues e.g. when unattended horses strayed onto roads and 
highways. However the issue had been noted for inclusion in the Kent 
Police and Crime Plan going forward;

 Attendance by PCSOs at Parish meetings: Visible policing resources 
had reduced in the current CSR1 cycle. PCSOs were highly valued by 
the Force and public alike, but CSR2 would necessitate hard choices 
between competing demands for resources. In the interim, the Dartford 
Neighbourhood Inspector undertook to examine the request that 
PCSO’s (where available) attend Parish meetings;

 Neighbourhood Watch meetings: Members noted the effectiveness 
of the schemes and that Police attendance was good, in particular by 
the Neighbourhood Inspector, most recently at the Swanscombe & 
Greenhithe Neighbourhood Watch event;



 Local Communications:  Members expressed particular frustration at 
the Parish level at the lack of Police follow-up following the initial 
reporting of crime. Parish Clerks bore the brunt of subsequent public 
dissatisfaction over the [apparent] lack of follow-up action by the 
Police. The Neighbourhood Inspector agreed that it was important to let 
the public know of any progress and the need for CSU’s to follow-up 
with the victims of crime. He undertook to reinforce this point with his 
team; 

 Radicalisation of minorities and fundamentalists: The DCC 
confirmed that the work of Kent Police in combating radicalisation was 
ongoing, given recent events in mainland Europe and the threat posed 
by British Jihadee’s returning from conflicts in the Middle East and 
elsewhere; 

 Merging of Police Forces: Kent Police were most closely aligned to 
and co-operated with Essex Police in the Eastern Region, to share 
services and generate savings. Co-operation with Surrey and Sussex 
focussed on cross-border crime, particularly from the Metropolitan 
area; 

 Public Consultation: The PCC was keen that the public should be 
consulted over the nature of cuts and their impact, but operational 
decisions were, by law, the remit of the Chief Constable. Difficult 
decisions lay ahead and it would be important to convey them to the 
public in a positive and open communications strategy.

The Committee expressed their thanks to the Deputy Chief Constable and the 
Commissioner’s Chief of Staff for their presentations and for responding to 
Members subsequent questions.
 
Item 2: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) 

The Committee received a verbal update from the Deputy Leader, Councillor 
Tony Martin, in his role as Dartford’s representative on the Kent and Medway 
Police and Crime Panel (PCP). Available Minutes from previous Panel 
meetings held on 24 July and 9 September 2014 had been included in the 
Committee’s agenda papers as background.

The Deputy Leader briefly updated Members on business at recent Panel 
meetings, before concentrating his comments on the PCC’s Police and Crime 
Plan 2015/16 Refresh and Council Tax Precept proposals. The PCP had 
agreed the PCC’s 2015/ Refresh proposal, but had continued to show 
concern over the Commissioner’s proposal to increase Council Tax to finance 
future unspecified spending. The Panel would have preferred the PCC to 
have adopted an analytical approach to existing budgetary provision to 
determine future need. The Deputy Leader conceded that the role of the PCC 
as an elected official with a mandate and manifesto to implement was a 
difficult one. However, he also expressed frustration over the limited role of 
Police and Crime Panels and felt that PCPs needed more powers to ensure 
that Panels and Commissioners developed a strong and constructive 
relationship.



Item 3: CSP Strategic Assessment 2014

The Committee congratulated Mark Salisbury on his appointment as 
Enforcement and Regulatory Services (EARS) Manager CSU and asked that 
the efforts of his predecessor, David Court, be recorded in the Minutes in 
recognition of his contribution to the work of the Committee from its inception 
in October 2009. 

The new EARS Manager advised that it was a particular pleasure and 
privilege to be working in Dartford CSU which was regarded as the exemplar 
model in Kent for effective collaborative multi-agency working. He reminded 
the Committee that the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) was required to publish a Strategic Assessment (SA) each 
year under the terms of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. The Committee 
was required to consider the SA annually, as an Overview function. Members’ 
attention was drawn to the following key points in the 2014 SA document:

 The principal aim of the SA was to record crime and anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) levels in Dartford and Gravesham and identify 
priorities to inform a joint Strategic Action Plan to tackle crime and ASB 
issues across both Boroughs;

 Crime and ASB data collated for the 2014 SA covered the period 
October 2013 – September 2014. Comparing figures for previous 
years is not possible, due to changes in the definition of several crime 
categories during 2013. Further significant changes had also been 
introduced in 2013 by the Home Office in their Counting Rules for 
Recorded Crime, following an inspection of Kent Police by Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC).  The Kent Force now 
held a very high ethical standard for crime recording, which other 
Police Forces had yet to implement.;

 The CSP’s 6 Key Priorities for 2015-16 remained the same as those 
identified for 2014-15, to combat Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse, 
Anti-Social Behaviour (incorporating Criminal Damage related to ASB), 
Acquisitive and Property Crime, Substance Misuse, Reducing Re-
offending and Road Safety;

 The Counter Terrorism and Security Bill (when en-Acted)  would 
hold significant implications for individual Agencies and CSPs under 
the terms of the ‘Prevent’ strategy, based within the Government’s 
Counter Terrorism ‘Contest’ plan. The ‘Prevent’ strategy in particular 
would place new duties on individual Agencies and CSPs to work 
together to prevent people becoming radicalised and drawn into acts of 
terrorism;

 Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse (DA) had risen in Dartford but in 
positive terms reflected increased public reporting of both crime 
categories in the community and reflected increased confidence in the 
Community that the Police and other Agencies could effectively tackle 
both issues.  Increased use by victims of the services provided by the 



Borough’s ‘Domestic Abuse 1 Stop Shop’ facilities was a further 
indicator of public confidence;

 Substance Misuse: –CSP partner Agencies had been concentrating 
their efforts dealing with the complex needs of alcohol users resistant 
to accessing support and services for their condition. Addressing so 
called ‘Legal Highs’ was another area of requiring increased Agency 
and CSP efforts. Other schemes / projects included extended joint 
working between the Troubled Families Programme’s Family Workers 
and local substance misuse providers CRI and KCA, to increase client 
referral numbers to both services; 

 Reducing Re-offending: the CSP’s Sub-Group had continued to 
support the CRI led initiative to improve multi-agency working to deal 
with the complex needs of alcohol users involved in repeat offending in 
both criminal activity and ASB. The ‘Making every Adult Matter’ project 
- a ‘Learning Shop’ based in Bluewater was a further initiative aimed at 
assisting repeat offenders in particular. The Community Payback 
Scheme under which ex-offenders undertook community work 
continued to draw public praise and be valued by both Boroughs; 

 Acquisitive Crime: targeted work would be undertaken in key 
geographical locations to reduce repeat victimisation and provide 
support to vulnerable residents and businesses. Closer working and 
information - sharing would be maintained between G-Safe, D-TAC, 
CCTV and Kent Police with additional measures such as Exclusion 
Orders used as appropriate;

 Road Safety: priorities were to tackle speeding and nuisance parking 
(particularly outside schools) with the aid of local residents. Multi-
agency initiatives aimed at promoting responsible driving behaviour 
through ‘pre-driver’ programmes and preventative work with new 
drivers were also being deployed.

The EARS Manager concluded his presentation of the 2014 SA document by 
underlining the importance of community engagement by the CSP and its 
partner organisations to achieve the ‘Golden Thread’ jointly advocated by 
Kent’s Chief Constable and Police and Crime Commissioner as embodied in 
the current Kent Police and Crime Plan.

In a subsequent Q and A session with Members the EARS Manager, 
Dartford’s District Commander and the Neighbourhood Inspector confirmed 
the following points:  

 Vandalism and Car Theft: Dartford figures in both categories higher 
than Kent average but suffered from 2 major contributory factors; (i) the 
Bluewater shopping complex accounted for 11% of Dartford crime and 
(ii) the Borough’s proximity to the major A2 and M25 arterial routes 
(allied to high-speed rail services) greatly facilitated cross-border crime, 
in particular from the Metropolitan area; 



 London based criminal gangs with sophisticated technology continued 
to circumvent electronic safeguards to steal top-range vehicles in the 
Borough. Van tool theft had also increased in the wake of new 
construction projects in Dartford and the Swanscombe peninsular. The 
CSP, Kent Police and Dartford CSU continued to work to address both 
crime categories and also encouraged public awareness and self-help 
through Neighbourhood Watch schemes; 

 Fly-Tipping: Council and Kent Police Officers from Dartford CSU had 
continued to address this perennial problem with some success 
through enhanced use of CCTV cameras at known ‘hot-spots’. Parish 
and Borough Members were encouraged to report any/all new 
incidents to Dartford CSU;

 Bluewater Complex: Officers acknowledged continued Member 
concern over the distorting effect Bluewater crime had on Dartford’s 
overall crime statistics [+11%]. Officers advised that the Bluewater 
‘inflation factor’ had in fact been separated out in paragraphs 4.1 and 
4.2 of the SA document [pages 27/28] which detailed ‘Theft and 
handling excluding vehicle interference’. Excluding offences within the 
Bluewater Complex from this category would reduce Dartford’s overall 
crime figure significantly bringing it in line with the Kent average;

 Acquisitive and Property Crime: Members had expressed concern 
that the reduction in Street Lighting by KCC had contributed to the 
incidences of burglary in the Borough. The Neighbourhood Inspector 
advised that ‘temporal’ times for offences were monitored by the 
Dartford CSU on a fortnightly basis and Police resources prioritised 
accordingly [within the overall constraints of the reduced Force]. The 
EARS Manager advised that KCC had undertaken to re-introduce 
street lighting during the hours of darkness [confirmed by a KCC 
Member present as September 2015 for the KCC scheme to resume in 
in rural areas];

 Community Payback Scheme: This was being privatised following the 
recent division of responsibility for probation and offender management 
work between the Government’s Probation Service and privately run 
Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs). CRC’s would manage 
low risk offenders, with the Probation Service retaining responsibility for 
high risk and long-term prisoners. Dartford CSU supported the 
Community Payback Scheme in terms of providing tools and some 
supervision and support. There was a proposal that CRCs might 
charge for the CP Scheme in the future [Kent, Surrey and Sussex CRC 
for Dartford]. Members would be advised (including through the CSP 
Support Group) when matters became clearer.

The Committee resolved to note the Dartford & Gravesham CSP Strategic 
Assessment 2014 document and thanked the EARS Manager for his 
comprehensive presentation and the Neighbourhood Inspector and Dartford’s 
District Commander from Kent Police for attending and responding to the 
Committee’s questions.



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 1

 
 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
PROTOCOL  
 
‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social 
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs, alcohol 
and other substances. 
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the overview and scrutiny role performed by non-
executive Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in 
representing local communities. 
 

  
Terms of Reference To review and scrutinise, and make reports or recommendations, 

regarding the functioning of the responsible authorities which comprise 
the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP): 
 
Dartford Borough Council [a responsible authority] 
Gravesham Borough Council [a responsible authority] 
Kent Police [a responsible authority] 
Kent County Council [a responsible authority] 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service [a responsible authority] 
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company [a 
responsible body]  
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group [a 
responsible authority] 
 

  
Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the 

 Council (the GAC); 
 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State/Home Office guidance issued from time to 

 time. 
 

  
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the 
Council's functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to 
ensure that the Council complies with the law and does not act unlawfully. 
 

  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 
 Comply with the Council's crime and disorder aims as stated from 

time to time in the Council's Strategic and Policy Framework; 
  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 

operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp 
the power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 2

  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) 
on technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name; 

  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities. 

 
Frequency of 
meetings 

No less than once in every twelve month period, the Committee will meet to 
review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken by the CSP and the 
responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually), in connection with 
their crime and disorder functions, as the Committee considers appropriate. 
 

Membership Committee membership cannot include any member of the Council’s 
Cabinet. 

  
The Overview and Scrutiny Process  

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge overview and scruti
ns functions relating to crime and disorder/community safety. 

 
  
1.What may be 
scrutinised 

 

1.1 decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities (either 
collectively or individually); 
 

1.2 the CSP’s annual strategic assessment to inform the Community Safety 
Plan; 
 

1.3 the CSP’s partnership plan; 
 

1.4 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs); 
 

1.5 crime and disorder/community safety related local improvement targets;  
 

1.6 subject to section U. of this Protocol, any other local crime and disorder 
matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community 
safety functions; 
 

1.7 items related to crime and disorder/community safety referred to in the 
Members' Information Bulletin; 
 

 NB: Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions will 
not focus on day to day operational performance, which is the proper 
concerns of managers of the responsible authorities. 

1.8 matters related to the systemic failure in the discharge of crime and 
disorder functions irrespective of the fact that there is a right of recourse to 
a review or right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment (see 
section E.3). 

  
  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 3

2.What may be 
reviewed 

 

2.1 The matters referred to in sections 1.1 – 1.3 and 1.6 – 1.8 of this Protocol. 
  
A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising/reviewing 

decisions/actions of the CSP, responsible authorities, Cabinet etc. 
and/or the scrutiny/review of the effects/outcomes of a decision post 
implementation 

 
A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 

 
� through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 

Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council; 
 

 � through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
 � one item only for any other Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on 

a ‘first come first served basis’. 
 

 � In cases of genuine urgency, the Chairman may authorise more than the 
allocated number of draw downs per Political Group on the Council, 
referred to this section A.1   

 
A.2 Each Committee meeting may draw down for overview and scrutiny 

purposes, no more than seven items in total.  These seven items may 
comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a Call-in, CCfA, 
the overview and scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the CSP and the 
responsible authorities (either collectively or individually), Cabinet/Officers, 
local improvement targets etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the 
Committee is restricted to the overview and scrutiny of seven items in total, 
per Committee meeting. 

 
 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 
clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day 
on which the meeting is held). 

 
 (b) The need (if any) for participants (CSP representatives, Members, 

Officers, and other external participants) to appear before the 
Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon 
on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' 
(sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wish to review/scrutinise an item for the purposes of 

examining the effect and outcomes of the CSP and/or the responsible 
authority, Cabinet etc. decision post implementation, drawing down the 
item may need to be delayed to a future date.  

 
  
 NB: The focus of the review/scrutiny in such circumstances will be 

concerned with the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or 
not reference was made to effects or outcomes (potential or 
perceived) in any background document before the Committee. 

 
  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 4

A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance 
with section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion 
of the item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right 
of the Political Groups to sum up. 

 
  

B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following 
will apply.  The request for information will: 
 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
   the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report from the 

CSP, background information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

   if applicable, identify the need for participants (CSP 
representatives, Members, Officers and/or other external participants) to 
appear before the Committee (refer to the general principles on 
participation detailed in section D of this Protocol); 

 
   provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the 

likely topics to be raised on the item(s); 
 

   provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the 
purposes of putting questions to participants. 

 
B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 

Strategic Director and links officers of the CSP and responsible authorities. 
Where the request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the 
Strategic Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some 
or all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day 
period, the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and 
in any event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 1998.   
 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 5

 
B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 

proceedings or current or future operations of the CSP and the responsible 
authorities, whether acting collectively or individually. 
 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person. 
 

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information and reg.5 of the Local Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012 and 
Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential information, will apply to the 
proceedings of the Committee. 

B.8 The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the 
receipt of information, particularly where requests for additional information 
are made or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where 
there are costs implications associated with providing the information.  In 
these circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee 
Chairman accordingly. 

B.9 To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process, the CSP and responsible 
authorities are under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012). 
 

 

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions 
C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 

concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making. 
 
This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, 
C.15 and C.16 of this Protocol. 
 

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by three Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the day before the  Cabinet meeting.  
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in. 

 
 (b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may 

not do so again until a period of six months has expired. 
 

C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 
rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee 
Chairman will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for 
referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration. 
 
Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in. 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 6

  
C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either: 

 
 (a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the 

Deferred Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not 
possible for the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of 
the Cabinet, defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's 
report; or 

 (b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration. 

 
C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report 

(setting out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, 
suggestions and/or comments), either refer the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet for 
consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate on the Call-in at the next 
ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an extraordinary meeting 
of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in Standing Order 1.(3) on the 
convening of extraordinary meetings. 

 
C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report: 

 
 (a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ 

Suspended Decision and the contents of the Committee's report 
before coming to a final decision. Providing the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision is not contrary to the budget or policy 
framework, the Cabinet may or may not amend the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching a final decision and 
implementing it; or 

 (b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet 
(with the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it. 

 
 NB:  The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 

decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council. 

 
C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 

reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect 
i.e. be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will 
become effective: 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 7

  
 (a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 

the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet. 

 
 (b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 

refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC.  
 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny 
after implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in 
section A of this Protocol. 

 
 NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 

subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to 
topic scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern. 

 
C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or 

action to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  
The definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. 
where any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the 
Council's or the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the 
powers of the Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the 
Monitoring Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and 
which cannot await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary 
meeting of the GAC. 

 
 NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 

decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside 
the Budget or Policy Framework). 

 
C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-

in will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately. 
 

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the 
Committee may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.   

 
C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to 

in the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol. 

 
C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 

55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)). 
 

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in. 

 
C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 

be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different.  
 

 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review. 

 
  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 8

D.Participants  
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under review/scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the 
proceedings of the Committee. 
 

  

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned 
 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the 
giving of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided 
as to the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny, the following 
persons may be required to attend meetings of the Committee, to give 
evidence, make representations and/or answer questions: 
 

 Council participants 
 

Cabinet members and Council Officers (Section 21(13)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 2000); 
 

 CSP participants 
 
Representatives of the CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating 
body invited to attend Committee meetings (Section 21(13)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 2000); 
 . 
 

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, 
members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in 
the development of crime and disorder policies and may appoint experts, 
advisors and assessors to assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 Councillors who are not members of the Committee 
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the 
Committee. 

 
D.6 The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the 

availability of a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 

D.7 Participation Rules 
 

(a) The attendance of Cabinet members and Council Officers as 
participants and any necessary substitutions will be within the 
discretion of the Cabinet Chairman in relation to Cabinet member 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 9

participants and the Managing Director, in relation to Officer 
participants. 

 
The CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman. 

 
The nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of 
representatives as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, 
and substitutions, will be at the discretion of their governing bodies or 
as detailed in their constitutions.  

 
 (b) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 

to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction 
is consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 (c) The Chairman reserves the right (supported by detailed reasoning to 
the Cabinet Chairman or Managing Director (as appropriate)), to 
strongly request the attendance of a named Cabinet member(s), 
Council Officer(s), representatives of the CSP and/or responsible 
authorities as participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject 
to written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight 
excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting 
is held). 

 
 (d) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 

investigation will not be called as participants. 
 

 (e) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(f) and 
(g) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of 
their particular issues. 

 
 (f) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 

Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session. 

 
 (g) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 

be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any 
question relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could 
not be answered without acknowledging or referring to possible 
inappropriate conduct/actions/inactions. 

 
 (h) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to 

provide their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the 
Committee on that evidence. 

 
  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 10

 (i) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
 (j) Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 

 
 (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 

policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 
 

 (k) Participants may be asked explain and justify; 
 

  advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
 

  decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 
Cabinet, CSP etc. 

 
 NB:As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for 
Officers to be politically neutral. 

 
  

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA) 

 

E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 
restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E.7 and E10 of this Protocol, any 
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any crime and 
disorder matter. 
 
The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure. 

 
E.2 Excluded matters 

A CCfA cannot be championed in relation to matters associated with 
licensing, planning, or a matter where there is already a statutory right of 
review or appeal (other than the right to complain to the Local Government 
Ombudsman), or a matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not 
reasonable to be included on the agenda for, or to be discussed at, a 
meeting of the Committee (reg. 3. of the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference 
by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012). 
 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 11

  
E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it 

consists of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible 
has not been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on 
a systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter (reg.4. the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference 
by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012). 

 
E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern 

by the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last 
resort, once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  
Local ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director 
before agreeing to champion a CCfA. 

 
E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 

local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has 
the support of the local community and the Member does not have a 
disclosable pecuniary interests or prejudicial interest in the matter.   

 
E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances 

where the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet (section 19(5) of the 
Police and Justice Act 2006).  
 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.   

 
E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 

written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 

attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply.  
 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA. 

 
E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will 

within 5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the 
Committee’s decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is 
final.  There is no right of appeal. 

 
E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 

matter raised.   
 

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or 
recommend accordingly to the CSP and the responsible authorities (either 
collectively or individually), GAC and/or the Cabinet.  The rules detailed in 
sections H and M of this Protocol, will apply. 
 

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the CSP’s and the responsible authorities’ 
(either collectively or individually), GAC’s or the Cabinet’s response before 
doing so.   
 

  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 12

F. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) of the Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to 
the Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by 
giving written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  
 

  

GH. The duty to have 
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

 
 

G.1 
The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required 
by the Committee to have regard to the Committee's Overview or Scrutiny 
Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local Government 
Act 2000).   
 

G.2 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

H. Co-option 
 

H.1 
The Committee may recommend to the GAC, the appointment/co-option of 
additional persons to serve on the Committee or its sub-committee, subject 
to the following: 
 

 
(i) a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-committee will not 

be entitled to vote on any particular matter, unless the Committee so 
determines and subject to the GAC’s permission in advance, on voting 
rights. 

 

 
(ii) a co-opted person's membership may be limited to the exercise of the 

Committee's/sub-committee’s powers in relation to a particular matter 
or type of matter. 

 

 
(iii) the Committee will only co-opt an employee, officer or member of the 

responsible authorities comprising the CSP to serve on the 
Committee/sub-committee, providing this person: 

 
  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 13

 
(a) is not the chairman or vice chairman of the CSP or the nominated 

representative/member or substitute of the responsible authorities ; 
and 

(b) is not a Cabinet member (or an executive member of Kent County 
Council or Gravesham Borough Council). 

 

 
(iv) the membership of a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-

committee, may be withdrawn at any time by the Committee. 
 

 
(v) [Voting] Co-optees will comply with the Council’s [Member] Code of 

Conduct set out in Part 5 of the Constitution. 
 

 
(vi) Co-optees will have access to exempt/confidential information 

considered/to be considered by the Committee.  The rules detailed in 
section Q.4 of this Protocol, will apply. 

 
J.2 Co-optees will count towards establishing a quorum. 

 
  

K. Work programme 
 

K.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council. 
 

K.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

K.3 
The CSP and the responsible authorities will be informed in advance, of 
overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).  
  

K.4 
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may 
make recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 14

L. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

 

L.1 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may 
invite independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the 
overview and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task 
groups.  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting 
rights and will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum.  
 

L.2 The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an 
employee, officer or member of the CSP, responsible authorities or co-
ordinating body. 

 
L.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to follow the 

principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

L.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

L.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

L.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 
 vires and propriety of expenditure; 
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 
 
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 
 

  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 15

M. Overview or  
Scrutiny reports  
and/or recommendations

 

M.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the CSP, responsible 
authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as 
the ‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview or Scrutiny Report 
prepared by the Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the 
appropriate Officer and the Committee Chairman under the existing rules 
for the preparation of committee reports. 
 

M.2 The Overview or Scrutiny Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed or scrutinised; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the overview and scrutiny exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised, including 

where applicable, an indication of the costs associated with 
implementing the recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 
M.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Overview or Scrutiny Report. 
 

M.4 The Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be 
published and sent to the link officer of the relevant body. 
 

M.5 The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body are under a legal 
obligation to consider the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations and respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as 
soon as reasonably possible) of the date of the Overview or Scrutiny 
Report, indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take (see 
section H.1 above).  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and 
GAC.  
 
Relevant bodies may fully accept, partially accept or reject the Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  If the relevant body partially 
accepts or rejects the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations, the body must detail its reasons. 
 

M.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the relevant body, attend 
its meeting and present the Overview or Scrutiny Report and answer 
questions. 
 

M.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) 
who expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, 
refer a 'minority view' report to the relevant body for consideration and 
provided they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial 
interest in the matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to 
attend the body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

M.8 If at all possible, Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations 
should be included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the 
relevant body unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations is scheduled to be considered by 
the relevant body within a period of four weeks from the date the 
Committee issues the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations.  In such circumstances, the Committee's Overview or 
Scrutiny Report/recommendations will be considered by the relevant body 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 16

in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s 
agenda. 
 

M.9 Only one Overview or Scrutiny Report per meeting of the relevant body 
may be submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

M.10 Following receipt of the relevant body’s response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] relevant 
body' either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the 
case may be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that 
the Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

M.11 Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be 
copied to the Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview 
or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations until the Cabinet has had the 
opportunity to comment. 
 

M.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  

N. Cabinet Key  
Decisions 

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in the 
forward plan, but the Committee believes that it should have been included, 
the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the decision to 
the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The Committee's 
consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject to the rules 
on confidential and exempt information. 
 

  

P. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

Q. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

Q.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and 
including (iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in 
accordance with Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 17

  Call – in; 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities 
(either collectively or individually); 

 
  the CSP’s annual strategic assessment;  

 
  the CSP’s partnership plan; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  CCfA; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local crime and disorder matter related to the 

Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community safety functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Scrutiny Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 
Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 

the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or 
confidential information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant 
to an issue(s) before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
and Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
Managing Director. 
 

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to 
defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

  

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 18

R. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply. 
 

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules 
detailed in Standing Order 15. 
 

  

S. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working groups 
 

 

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at 
any time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task 
groups will be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and 
informally. 
 

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with 
other bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-
authority overview and scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the 
Committee’s functions. 
 

  

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group 
may contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process. 
 

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the 
evidence gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings 
will involve different skills from those required by traditional committee 
meetings.  The task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group 
members are clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the 
opportunity to pursue a line of questioning – via a number of 
supplementary questions if necessary. 
 

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants.  

 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 19

S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 
the record of their attendance.  
 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  
The draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic 
Director for comment. 
 

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Strategic Director. 
 

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations 
to the relevant body i.e. CSP, responsible authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet 
with a note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate. 
 
The rules detailed in sections G, H and M of this Protocol will apply. 
 

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

  
T. Sub-committees  
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions 
to its sub-committees. 
 

T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 
with overview and scrutiny. 
 

  
U. Regulatory bodies  
U.1 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 

Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations in accordance with section M. of this Protocol. 
 

U.2 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply.  
 

U.3 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

V. Declarations of  
interest 

 

V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities and other partner 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct. 
 

  



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 20

V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests 
become apparent to them.  
 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in 
which they have been directly involved. 
 
Subject to the rule detailed in section V.6 of this Protocol, where the 
Committee is undertaking its overview function, Members may be involved 
in reviewing a decision in which they have been directly involved. 

V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  

W. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 



 

30 June 2015 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 21

           ANNEX 1 
 

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART 
 
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community 

 
 
First level response 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Second level response 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Third level response 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fourth level response 
 
  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fifth level response 
 
 
  
 
 

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request 

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee   

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee rejects CCFA (see Committee’s 
Protocol for procedure) 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee accepts CCfA and considers issue in 
accordance with Committee’s Protocol 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee compiles report and 
recommendations to Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. 
(refer to Committee’s Protocol) 

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons 

Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. consider recommendations 
and respond within 2 months, setting out reasons 
for any inaction 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee considers and publishes responses to 
scrutiny recommendations 

Feedback to local ward Member  

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide)

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal 

 

Agree to champion 

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Cabinet portfolio member, CSP etc. 
(section 11 of Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved  





APPENDIX C
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L

ANNUAL MEETING
27 May 2015

STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS
OF THE COUNCIL

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference]

Chairman: Councillor R J Wells
Vice-Chairman: Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Membership: Councillors S R Jarnell, M B Kelly, R Lees, C S McLean, 

M A Maddison and D J Mote.

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

General Provisions

‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-
social behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse 
of drugs, alcohol and other substances.

1. To review and scrutinise the discharge of the crime and disorder functions of the 
responsible authorities (local authorities, fire and rescue authorities, police authorities, 
the police, primary care trusts) which comprise the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership (the CSP).as set out in these Terms of Reference.

2. To review and scrutinise the discharge of any other local crime and disorder matter 
related to the Council’s crime and disorder functions.

3. To make reports or recommendations as appropriate, to the GAC, Cabinet, the CSP or 
any one or more responsible authority etc.

4. To review responses from and monitor the action (if any), taken by the CSP, an 
individual responsible authority, Officers, GAC, Cabinet etc.

Overview Functions

5. No less than once in every twelve month period, to review strategies in connection with 
the discharge by the CSP of its crime and disorder functions and make reports or 
recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above.

Scrutiny Functions



6. No less than once in every twelve month period, to scrutinise decisions made, or action 
taken, by the CSP and the Council of its crime and disorder functions and make reports 
or recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above.

7. To consider any local crime and disorder matter referred to the Committee by a local 
ward Member under the Councillor Call for Action provisions referred to in the 
Committee’s Protocol.



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

1

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CRIME AND DISORDER 
(OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE AND THE DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

Introduction 
 
1. The Council has a legal duty under Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to 

carry out all its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and disorder and 
reduce re-offending in its area.   

 
2. The Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007 grant the Council the power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters 
through the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP).  The 
legislative powers are intended to enable the Council’s overview and scrutiny function to 
hold the CSP and other partner organisations to account for their performance, including 
their work with the Council, to meet specific local targets. 

 
3. The Councillor Calls for Action provide a ‘last resort’ mechanism for the Council’s overview 

and scrutiny function to try to resolve persistent local crime and disorder issues of genuine 
community concern, where all efforts by a local ward Councillor to find a solution through 
local action and discussion with the CSP etc, have been unsuccessful. 

 
4. In order for the exercise of overview and scrutiny powers to be effective, it is vital that the 

CSP and other partners and stakeholders are engaged in the process and share a common 
understanding of the Council’s overview and scrutiny aims.  This Memorandum of 
Understanding has therefore been developed to embody that understanding and sets out 
the rights and responsibilities that relate to the parties concerned. 

 
The CSP and main tasks 
 
5.(a) The CSP comprises seven statutory bodies who have a legal duty to work with other 

local agencies and organisations to develop and implement strategies to tackle crime 
and disorder, including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment, as well as the misuse of drugs in their area:  
 
Dartford Borough Council 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Kent Police 
Kent County Council 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company  
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
(b) The CSP works with numerous other agencies and voluntary groups.  

(c) In order to identify and deliver on the priorities that matter the most to local 
communities, the CSP is required to carry out a number of main tasks: 

� preparing an annual strategic assessment which identifies the crime and 
community safety priorities in the area, through analysis of information provided by 
partner agencies an the community; 

� producing a partnership plan, detailing the approach for addressing priorities; 
� undertaking community consultation and engagement on crime and disorder 

issues; and 
� sharing information among the responsible authorities. 



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

2

Aims of overview and scrutiny 
 

 6. To: 
 

(a) involve the responsible authorities, local people and community organisations, in 
overview and scrutiny activity; 

(b) develop a dialogue with the responsible authorities, service providers and other 
stakeholders external to the Council; 

(c) take up issues of concern to local people; 
(d) review whether the CSP’s goals are being achieved; and 
(e) examine what can be done to solve problems and enhance the CSP’s performance and 

achievement. 
 
Designated crime and disorder committee 
 
7. The Council’s designated crime and disorder committee under section 19(1) of the Police 

and Justice Act 2006, is the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee.  The 
Committee is independent of the CSP. 

 
8. There will be at least one ordinary meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 

Scrutiny) Committee in each municipal year in accordance with the Council’s calendar of 
meetings.  In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called as and when appropriate in 
accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rules detailed in its Standing Orders. 

 
9. The Committee’s Terms of Reference 
 

The overview and scrutiny of: 
(a) decisions and/or actions of the CSP and its partners, but only in so far as they relate 

to crime and disorder; 
(b) the CSP’s annual strategic assessment; 
(c) the CSP’s partnership plan; 
(d) community safety related local improvement targets measured through Local Area 

Agreements, Comprehensive Area Assessment and the Place Based Survey; 
(e) any other local crime and disorder matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and 

disorder/community safety functions; and 
(f) the scrutiny of Councillor Calls for Action (on crime and disorder/community safety 

matters). 
 

Management of the Council’s crime and disorder/community safety functions 
 

10. The Council’s Strategic Director is responsible for the management of the Council’s crime 
and disorder/community safety functions.   

 
Council representatives on the CSP 
 
11. The Leader of the Council and Managing Director are the Council’s nominated 

representatives on the CSP.  
  
CSP, responsible authorities named link officers and representatives  
 

12. The CSP, individual responsible authorities will assign a named link officer to liaise with the 
Council’s Member Services [refer to section 31 of this Memorandum of Understanding], to 
ensure that communication is swift and effective and that requests for information, 
responses to reports and/or recommendations and requests for CSP and responsible 
authorities’ representatives to attend meetings, are dealt with, within the timescales referred 
to in the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.  Contact details of the named link officers will 
be notified to the Council’s Member Services. 



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

3

 
13. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, the CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman. 
 
14. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, the nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of representatives 
and substitutes as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, will be at the 
discretion of their governing bodies or as detailed in their constitutions.  

 
Underlying principles of crime and disorder overview and scrutiny 

 
15. The following underlying principles of overview and scrutiny will assist in securing 

effective outcomes and adding value: 
 
(a) Collaboration 

 
 community safety and freedom from crime and disorder for the people of the Borough of 

Dartford is dependant upon many factors, including the services provided in partnership 
by/with the CSP.  The CSP will work in partnership with the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to provide objective and effective scrutiny of crime 
and disorder in the Borough of Dartford.  This shared responsibility should be 
acknowledged in any crime and disorder overview and scrutiny activity undertaken; 

 increasingly, services are provided jointly or as a result of partnerships between the 
Council and other public sector organisations or other parties.  Overview and scrutiny 
activities should therefore also reflect shared priorities, find shared solutions and be of 
mutual benefit; 

 while overview and scrutiny should be constructive and challenging, it will only be 
successful if all partners work together considerately, within a climate of mutual respect, 
trust and good faith with an understanding and commitment to the CSP’s and Council’s 
crime and disorder aims and objectives.  

 
(b) Added Value 
 
 it is vital that overview and scrutiny brings something new to reviews/scrutiny of crime and 

disorder functions and does not duplicate the many other forms of performance 
management and inspection that exist for public service providers.  

 overview and scrutiny activities should make a distinct and positive impact and only be 
carried out where objective scrutiny/review by elected Councillors, will help progress to be 
made. 

 overview and scrutiny activities should have a clear purpose.  There should be a focus on 
crime reduction and improving the well-being of those who live and work in the Borough 
of Dartford. 

 the overview and scrutiny process should be proactive in seeking out issues to examine, 
that will add most value. 

 overview and scrutiny should be prepared to examine crime and disorder issues that 
cross service or agency boundaries and make appropriate recommendations to tackle 
such issues, whilst being mindful of potential implications for/on the CSP and/or other 
external organisations. 

 overview and scrutiny should aim to develop feasible recommendations which provide 
value for money by securing benefits that outweigh the cost of implementation. 

  overview and scrutiny will be focused on improving services and service provision for the 
people of the Borough of Dartford and will concentrate on outputs that are intended to 
help improve community safety and reduce the fear of crime in the Borough.  



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

4

 
(c) Clarity 

 
Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions: 

 
 should be a transparent process which encourages open and honest discussion; 
 should be well planned and timely; 
 should be of particular issues and time-limited; 
 should focus on strategic priorities and concerns, with a strategic view of performance 

usually aligned to key performance targets. 
 

(d) Knowledge 
 
 overview and scrutiny reports must be evidence-based in order to provide credible 

conclusions and recommendations; 
 although the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will want to be 

informed, the overview and scrutiny process is not an ‘expert’ review/scrutiny of the 
CSP’s crime and disorder function; 

 the overview and scrutiny process should be impartial, in that it should be driven by the 
evidence, rather than by a particular standpoint. 

 
(e) Accessibility 

 
 it is a fundamental role of the overview and scrutiny process to ensure that there is full 

and equal access to the democratic process, through public involvement and 
engagement; 

 the views and ideas of service users (and non-users), service providers and organisations 
and other agencies with an interest in the subject under review/scrutiny, are all valuable 
in effective scrutiny – overview and scrutiny should involve all stakeholders and take 
account of views of service users and the public, with particular efforts to engage groups 
that are harder to reach; 

 constructive engagement and clear lines of communication should enable a two-way flow 
of information between crime and disorder overview and scrutiny and all those involved, 
including feedback of results. 

 
Providing information to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee 

 
16. The CSP, responsible authorities and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, will respect the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998.  The provision of 
information to/for overview and scrutiny will be governed by relevant legislation and 
established protocols for the sharing of data. 

 
17. To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process and in accordance with reg.4 of the Local 

Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees)(England) Regulations 2012, requested 
information will be pro-actively provided by the CSP and responsible authorities (acting 
individually or collectively).   

 
Notice of required attendance at committee meetings  
 
18. Forward planning of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee’s annual 

work programme will normally ensure the provision of reasonable notice of requests for 
information/the submission of written reports and/or required attendance at Committee 
meetings, of representatives of the responsible authorities. 

 
19. The CSP and responsible authorities will be informed in advance by the Council’s Member 

Services, of overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).   



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

5

 
20. Dates and times of meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, agendas, minutes and reports, will be circulated by the Council’s Member 
Services, to the named link officer of the CSP and the responsible authorities. 

 
21. Subject to 14 clear days’ notice (i.e.14 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 

midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and 
information being provided as to the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny, 
representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations 
working with the CSP, may be invited under Section 21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act 
2000 to attend the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee meetings, to 
give evidence and/or answer questions.   

 
22. Representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations 

working with the CSP should be willing to engage constructively with overview and scrutiny 
and attend meetings when invited. 

 
Access to information  

 
23. Reports which are presented to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk and circulated 
to the CSP and the responsible authorities’ named link officers, 5 clear days before the 
Committee meeting. 

 
Style and conduct of committee meetings 

 
24. Meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will be conducted 

in accordance with the principles and procedures set out in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules and Access to information Procedure Rules of the Council’s Standing 
Orders and in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.   

 
Reports and recommendations of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee 

 
25. The CSP and responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required by the Crime 

and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to have regard to the Committee’s 
Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local 
Government Act 2000). 

 
Monitoring recommendations 

 
26. Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the CSP and responsible 

authorities will be measured by the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee.   

 
Local improvement targets 

 
27. The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee may scrutinise performance 

and delivery of the Kent County Council’s KA2 – LAA crime and disorder/community safety 
local improvement targets.  



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

6

 
Councillor Calls for Action 

 
28. The CSP and responsible authorities (either collectively or individually) will co-operate on 

matters related to Councillor Calls for Action.  
 

Resolving disputes about this Memorandum of Understanding 
 

29. If the CSP and responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually) believe that this 
Memorandum of Understanding is not being adhered to, the issue should be referred to the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee for consideration and decision.  
The Committee’s decision will be final. 

 
Review of this Memorandum of Understanding 

 
30. This Memorandum of Understanding will be reviewed jointly, on an annual basis or more 

frequently, if experience and circumstances highlight that amendments may need to be 
made. 

 
Complaints against the CSP 
 
31. Complaints against the CSP will be dealt with under the CSP’s complaints procedure.  

Complaints relating to CSP activities submitted to the CSP against individual responsible 
authorities will be dealt with by the individual responsible authorities under their respective 
complaints procedure. The response to the complaint will be copied to the chairman of the 
CSP. 

 
Availability of support 

 
32. Further advice or information on any aspect of this Memorandum of Understanding or on 

overview and scrutiny at Dartford Borough Council, is available from Member Services by 
emailing memberservices@dartford.gov.uk or telephoning the Member Services Manager 
on 01322 343430. 

 
 
 
 


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2015
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	9 Performance
	Item 9 - Appendix A - Performance Report

	10 Community Safety Plan 2015-16
	Item 10 - Appendix A - Dartford  Gravesham CSP Plan 2015-16

	11 Work Programme
	Item11 Appendix A draft WorkProgramme.2015-16
	Item11.Appendix.B.CrimeDisorderTORs

	12 Committee Annual Report for the 2014-15 Municipal Year
	Item12 FINAL.Appendix A.dh.Amd.SG.amd.DH draft CD AnnualReport 2014-15
	Item12.Appendix.B.LSP - Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol 30 June 2015
	Item12.Appendix.C.CrimeDisorderTOR
	Item12.AppendixD.LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of Understanding June 2015


